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At Hexcel, We Value…
–––  �One Hexcel. We thrive on the contributions each person brings to the 

Company by valuing diversity, developing talent, fostering teamwork, and 
rewarding success. 

–––  �Innovation. We embrace the curiosity to explore ideas, the passion to 
challenge the impossible, and the conviction to succeed beyond expectations.

–––  �Accountability. We are accountable – to customers, shareholders, the 
community, suppliers and to ourselves – for achieving superior performance by 
expecting excellence in everything we do. 

–––  �Responsibility. We work with uncompromised integrity on behalf of our 
shareholders, employees and customers. We strive to be good citizens in the 
communities in which we live and work.

Financial Highlights
		

(In millions except per share amounts)		  2021		  2020		  2019

Net Sales 	 $ 	1,324.7	 $	 1,502.4 	 $	 2,355.7

Operating Income	 $	 51.8	 $	  14.1	 $	 425.2

Net Income 	 $	 16.1	 $	 31.7	 $	 306.6

Diluted Net Income per share	 $	 0.19	 $	 0.38	 $	 3.57
	 		

Non-GAAP Measures (see pages 22-23 for definition)			 

Free Cash Flow	 $	 123.8	 $	 213.7	 $	 287.0

Adjusted Operating Income	 $	 70.0	 $	 72.0	 $	 425.2

Adjusted Net Income	 $	 23.2	 $	 20.6	 $	 303.6

Adjusted Diluted Net Income per share	 $	 0.27	 $	 0.25	 $	 3.54



–––  �Our Hexcel Purpose  
We propel the future of flight, energy generation, transportation 
and recreation through excellence in advanced material 
solutions that create a better world for us all. 

AIRBUS A350 © AIRBUS SAS 2017
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To Our Shareholders
Hexcel has emerged from 2021 stronger,  
safer and more capable than ever.  
As our performance reflects,  
Hexcel is growing and focusing  
on a future that provides  
value to our shareholders and,  
through lightweighting solutions,  
creates a better world  
for us all.

LEAP-1B ENGINE
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–––  �We believe  
that no products made today will lead to greater fuel efficiency 
and improved aerodynamics with as much strength and 
durability as Hexcel carbon fiber, prepreg, honeycomb  
and engineered products.

Hexcel is qualified to supply materials to a broad range of helicopter, military aircraft and space programs, 
including the Lockheed Martin F-35 which is our largest defense program. © Lockheed Martin
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Our teams dealt with the stress and uncertainty of the 
pandemic by fighting harder than ever to innovate, 
collaborate with our customers and deliver best-
in-class materials for the next generation of aircraft 
and industrial applications. We entered the year with 
far fewer resources because we had responded 
to the enormous decline in our 2020 revenues by 
reorganizing the company and reducing our global 
workforce by approximately 35%. 

Today, Hexcel has never been more aligned with our 
customers or more ready to deliver the innovations 
they need to win. In 2022 and beyond, we return to our 
focus on growth and on the bright future of advanced 
composites. We believe that no products made 

today will lead to greater fuel efficiency and improved 
aerodynamics with as much strength and durability 
as Hexcel carbon fiber, prepreg, honeycomb and 
engineered products. Our fundamentals remain strong 
and our Purpose unchanged: 

We propel the future of flight, energy generation, 
transportation and recreation through excellence 
in advanced material solutions that create a better 
world for us all.
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SIKORSKY CH-53K HEAVY-LIFT HELICOPTER © LOCKHEED MARTIN
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The world is changing in fundamental ways, and 
so are our workplaces. Hexcel has been able to 
succeed through all the uncertainties and challenges 
because of our One Hexcel culture. Our culture is so 
naturally collaborative, our people are so passionate 
and creative, and our willingness to help each 
other on key objectives is so strong that our teams 
seize on opportunities to improve, regardless of the 
circumstances.

Throughout 2021, our One Hexcel team accepted 
and embraced the challenges by quickly identifying 
priorities and taking decisive actions. They knew what 
needed to be done, and they did it while expecting 
nothing less than excellence in all that we do. 

I am pleased to submit this report on behalf of our 
worldwide Hexcel team.
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–––  �Hexcel  
has never been more aligned with our customers 
or more ready to deliver the innovations they 
need to win.
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Our Innovation Obsession
Innovation is the essence of our company. We 
constantly develop new products and process 
methods that not only displace those of our 
competitors but sometimes even our own as we strive 
for continuous improvement. We never sit idle. We 
never accept that a current sole source position is 
a future guarantee. We sustain our success only by 
matching our customers’ complex and evolving needs 
with best-in-class, higher performance solutions. 
In 2021, we prioritized numerous advances in our 
products and challenged our teams to be both 
disciplined and creative as they focused on the most 
important improvements. 

We continued our virtual Customer Tech Days with our 
key aerospace and defense customers. These events, 
which we introduced when the pandemic began, allow 

us to showcase the breadth and depth of our technical 
solutions and spend time learning more about 
evolving customer needs. Their technical experts 
talk directly with our technical experts to learn and 
share information. These events are rich in meaningful 
discussions that lead to many growth opportunities. 
In the latter half of 2021, we were excited to visit 
our customers’ sites once again and continue our 
collaborations with them in person.

We also continued to expand our alliance with Arkema 
at our joint research laboratory where together we 
are speeding up the material development of UD 
thermoplastic tapes suitable for oven consolidation, 
welding and full in situ processes for commercial 
aerospace applications. 

Our Additive Manufacturing team joined with our RF 
Interference Control Products team to collaborate 
on the increasing need for EMI mitigation in complex 
electronic systems across the aerospace and defense 
industries. The result of that collaboration was the 
creation of HexPEKK® EM, a multifunctional additive 
part which enhances the electromagnetic properties of 
proven HexAM® technology. This innovation can serve 
as a means to aid in the mitigation of EMI in housings, 
brackets and panels neighboring electronic systems in 
aircrafts. 

In May, we were proud to announce plans for building 
a new Research & Technology Center located near 
Salt Lake City, Utah, on the same site where our 
largest carbon fiber manufacturing plant and our U.S. 
aerospace matrix operations are located. This new 
Center of Excellence will be the company’s largest 
center for innovation and product development in 
North America and a showcase for our technology, 
with room to expand in the years ahead.

Hexcel broke ground in October on its new Center of Research & Technology 
Excellence at Hexcel Salt Lake City. From left to right are Colleen Pritchett, 
President – Aerospace, Americas; Nick Stanage, Chairman, CEO and President; 
and Ron Bigelow, Mayor of West Valley City, Utah. Below is an artist’s rendering 
of the new building.

––––  �HexPly® XF prepregs  
are also ideal for marine applications, reducing lay-up time  
and eliminating the need for barrier layers.
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In July, we announced our role in the DOLPHIN project 
(Disruptive PEM fuel cell stack with nOvel materiaLs, 
Processes, arcHitecture and optimized INterfaces)  
where we will collaborate with leading research 
and technology companies to develop solutions 
for more efficient hydrogen cells with the goal of 
accelerating the adoption of cleaner, more sustainable 
fuel cell technologies. Hexcel is providing numerous 
lightweighting fabrics and materials to reduce the 
weight and volume of the fuel cell stack in three  
key areas: terminal plates, gas diffusion layers and  
bipolar plates. 

HexPly M77HF is another example of our relentless 
focus on innovation. This latest quick curing prepreg is 
revolutionizing high-performance sporting goods with 
faster production times and excellent surface quality. 

These examples of our innovations reflect our 
organizational commitment and resolve to remain 
at the forefront of innovation for our customers. Our 
technology pipelines are robust, and we continually 
review and update our technology roadmaps to be 
diligent and disciplined innovators.

2021 was also an important year of innovative 
accomplishments in our industrial and emerging 
markets. 

In January, we presented a composite materials 
outlook for the Advanced Air Mobility market. The 
challenge of producing these unmanned aerial 
vehicles at the required high volumes and low cost 
requires more composite material innovations. Our 
experience in both composite material systems for 
high-rate automotive platforms as well as material 
systems with the performance required for aerospace 
applications positions us to be the best partner to 
vehicle and structures manufacturers supporting this 
exciting new market. 

In February, we announced our latest HexPly® XF  
surface technology that significantly reduces 
shell manufacturing time and cost for wind blade 
producers. This innovative new material is less 
than half the weight of a typical gelcoat per square 
meter. HexPly XF prepregs are also ideal for marine 
applications, reducing lay-up time and eliminating the 
need for barrier layers. Further processing advantages 
are obtained when paired with HexPly® SuperFIT® 
semi-pregs for the structural laminate below the XF 
surface layer. These innovations enable faster build 
times with improved laminate quality for the hull,  
deck and superstructure applications in marine design 
and manufacture. 

HexPly® XF surface technology significantly reduces shell manufacturing time 
within the wind blade surface finishing process. 

––––  �HexPly® XF prepregs  
are also ideal for marine applications, reducing lay-up time  
and eliminating the need for barrier layers.

Sunseeker uses HexPly® XF surface technology 
to produce prepreg parts with high-quality,  
paint-ready surfaces for its 90 Ocean yacht. 

PHOTO COURTESY OF SUNSEEKER



Sustainability Leadership
Hexcel is a leading innovator of 
products and technical solutions that 
enable our customers to optimize fuel 
consumption, lower emissions, reduce 
noise and help sustain the planet for 
generations to come. 

Sustainability is not new to Hexcel. We issued 
our first sustainability report in 2011 and then 
updated and shared more about our sustainability 
focus in 2017. At that point, we set our sights on 
developing reporting processes and collecting the 
baseline data we would need to establish realistic 
environmental targets. I am pleased to report that 
earlier this year, we announced specific targets 
that we are committed to achieving by 2030, 
using 2019 as the baseline. Our environmental 
goals are intensity-based:

n  30% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions

n  30% reduction in waste to landfill

n  20% reduction in freshwater use

n  �50% improvement in total recordable incident rate 
(based on 200,000 worker hours)

Our journey is about developing innovations that 
lead to more sustainable technologies and products, 
more responsible operations, a healthier workplace, 
an accountable supply chain, an inclusive workforce, 
continued ethical business practices and respect for 
the community. 

For decades, Hexcel 
has given back to the 

communities where we 
operate, both with financial 

support and volunteer hours. 
In November, we announced 

the latest three grants from the 
Hexcel Foundation in support of 

the Smithsonian National Air & Space 
Museum for its STEM in 30 program, the 

Cancer Research Institute to fund clinical and 
laboratory research, and Convoy of Hope for its 

Children’s Feeding initiative. We are committed 
to increasing funding of the Foundation by 
10% per year from 2022 to 2025. 

Hexcel is also at the forefront of the 
recycling and reuse of composites, another 
critical element to sustainability. Years ago, 
we invested in Carbon Conversions, Inc., 

an emerging firm working on creating new 
materials from scrap and end-of-life carbon 

fiber applications that has seen success in recycling 
some of the largest marine composite structures. 
In 2021, we announced a partnership with Fairmat, 
a deep technology startup based in France. Under 
the agreement, Fairmat will recycle carbon fiber 
prepreg from Hexcel operations in Europe for reuse in 
composite parts sold into commercial markets.

Lastly, we announced the successful completion of 
a 34-meter HexPly M9.6 carbon fiber prepreg mast 
for the Chantiers de l’Atlantique Silenseas project. 
The project validated the customer’s new concept 
to power the next generation of quieter and more 
environmentally responsible cruise ships.

8  



Customer Excellence 
Our quality performance, on-time delivery and 
relationships with Airbus, Boeing and all of our key 
customers are stronger than ever. With our customer 
focus and disciplined execution, we are a trusted 
supplier helping our customers win. In 2021, we 
were awarded a long-term contract for additive 
manufactured parts for the Boeing 777X family. 
HexPEKK components can be manufactured-to-
print for commercial aerospace, defense and space 
applications where complexity, lightweight and strong 
mechanical performance are critical. Parts selected  
for the Boeing 777X family include various air flow 
ducting applications and other supporting elements  
on the aircraft. 

We are keenly aware of the challenges our customers 
face to increase production rates for future aircraft 
programs, and we continue to innovate new technical 
materials and solutions to enable them to do so. 
Our latest HexFlow® resins which are combined with 
HiTape® and HiMax® carbon fiber reinforcements to 
create improved hot/wet mechanical properties for out-
of-autoclave (OOA) processes such as vacuum infusion 
and resin transfer molding are designed to meet 
aerospace OEM cycle time and cost reduction targets. 

Hexcel’s automotive composites portfolio is the result 
of decades of industry experience and the creation 
of strategic partnerships to develop leading-edge 
solutions. Hexcel is partnering with HP Composites, a 
successful composite provider in Italy to the automotive 
and motorsport industries. HP uses HexPly XF3 

surfacing material, HexPly M47 and M49 prepregs to 
deliver external body panels and other components for 
supercars such as Alfa Romeo’s stunning supersport 
sedans, the Giulia GTA and GTAm.

In March, we announced our role in ASCEND 
(Aerospace and Automotive Supply Chain Enabled 
Development). We join lead partner GKN Aerospace 
and 13 other stakeholders in a collaboration that 
focuses on developing high-rate manufacturing 
and processing technologies to accelerate the 
development of new, lightweight, advanced composite 
materials. Hexcel will contribute in numerous ways, 
including the development of a new HexPly fast-
cure prepreg system and providing liquid composite 
molding products, HiTape advanced unidirectional dry 
carbon fiber reinforcements and HiMax multiaxial non-
crimp fabric reinforcements. The technical integrations 
of ASCEND will ensure a complete understanding of 
customer performance and processing needs as well 
as the industrialization of new technologies.

In July, we were pleased to announce that Rassini,  
a Mexico-based leader in composite vehicle suspension 
systems, selected HexPly M901 to speed up prototype 
and new product development cycles. We developed 
this high Tg epoxy resin prepreg system specifically 
for structural components that will be exposed  
to harsh thermal and environmental conditions.  
With short cure cycles of 10 minutes, this innovation 
delivers a powerful combination of benefits for 
suspension applications.
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–––  �With our customer focus  
and disciplined execution, we are a trusted supplier  
helping our customers win.

737 MAX © BOEING



People Excellence 
Our safety performance improved significantly in 2021 
despite the impact of COVID-19 and operating with 
reduced staff. Confirmation of how seriously we take 
our obligations to eliminate injuries to our employees 
came from an unexpected source: Numerous former 
employees who have returned to Hexcel as growth 
resumes told us that they had not fully appreciated 
Hexcel’s focus on their safety and well-being until 
they found employment at other companies where 
it was not a top priority. Many of our locations had 
zero injuries in 2021, and our safety performance is 
considered world-class. Still, we will not rest until we 
achieve zero injuries at every Hexcel site.

2021 saw most companies wrestling with the new 
workplace realities of remote work, retention and 
recruitment challenges, and overall employee 
engagement. Hexcel has not been immune to these 
issues. We have seen increased attrition, smaller 
external candidate pools for open positions and 

employees’ heightened needs for balancing work 
and life. The questions swirling about potential 
mandatory vaccination requirements put additional 
strain on our teams. 

We took several steps in 2021 to address these 
issues. As a manufacturing company, the vast 
majority of our employees have jobs that require 
them to be present at our facilities. Nevertheless, 
there were several roles that were performed 
remotely during the pandemic, and we recognize 
the importance of flexibility for some employees to 
work remotely part of the time. We also recognized 
that remote work has different legal and cultural 
issues in different countries and geographies, so we 
empowered each work location to decide the local 
parameters for remote work with the overall goal 
of having employees in the workplace a majority 
of the time. Every company is different, but for 
Hexcel I believe that being present in the workplace 

10  

Employees at our Hexcel Casa Grande (Arizona) site are part of a team that has been recognized by Boeing for excellence.



a majority of the time is critical to maintaining 
our culture, driving innovation, onboarding 
new employees and fostering teamwork and 
collaboration. 

Based on feedback from our recruiting team,  
we have made changes to our compensation and 
benefit plans to keep Hexcel more attractive to 
external candidates. But more importantly, we 
have focused on what I believe is core to the topic 
of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion. We want every 
employee to feel the power of belonging – in Hexcel 
and on their team. We want every employee to 
know and believe their contributions are valued 
and crucial to our overall success, and we need the 
diverse insights and perspectives of each employee. 
As leaders, we must unleash their commitment and 
resolve to help each other overcome challenges.  
We have made our DEI efforts much more visible, 
have committed to source diverse candidates 
for every professional job and are learning to 
incorporate conscious inclusion in our hiring 
processes. Last year, a cross-functional team of 
Hexcel leaders from across the globe evaluated 
external training programs and chose a Conscious 
Inclusion program that is now rolling out to senior 
leaders. We are committed to making Hexcel more 
inclusive and more diverse in meaningful ways.

Operational Excellence 
We made significant strides in 2021 to drive 
Operational Excellence to new levels. A cross-
functional team from R&T, Quality, Information 
Technology and Operations has developed an initiative 
called Future Factory. It’s a great example of our 
One Hexcel value because technologists in different 
functions from around the world are engaging in teams 
to solve next-generation operational challenges. 
Future Factory aims to leverage artificial intelligence 
(AI) and data analytics to enhance the digitization of 
our workflows and the systems coordination between 
the equipment on our production lines. Future Factory 
will also establish relationships with key universities  
to provide education and help our teams keep pace  
in the rapidly evolving space of AI and digitization.

In September, we announced an expansion of 
our engineered core manufacturing operations in 
Morocco, doubling the size of the current plant.  
The Casablanca facility is part of our ongoing global 
investment to support aerospace customers’ growing 
demand for engineered core, particularly for aircraft, 
engine nacelles and helicopter blades.

A great example of our focus on Operational 
Excellence was the success of our Fibers Team last 
year. A significant portion of our fiber assets had been 
temporarily idled due to the decreased demand. What 
did our Fibers Team do? They used this downtime to 
prioritize possible improvements to our manufacturing 
processes, and then used our idled assets to test 
these enhancements with experiments that have 
yielded significant process and quality improvements. 
With growth now returning rapidly, we are better 
positioned to produce higher quality fiber with 
stronger performance characteristics more efficiently 
than before the pandemic began.
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The newest member of our Board of Directors, Dr. Marilyn Minus, 
toured Hexcel Decatur in October with Plant Manager Brent Gann.

An expansion at our Hexcel Casablanca (Morocco) plant is expected to be 
completed in 2023, doubling the size of the plant to meet customer demand 
for engineered core.
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One Last Note 
With cybersecurity in the news, we are taking the potential threat seriously and using it as a learning opportunity. 
In 2021, we continued to strengthen our defenses against malware and phishing threats. We also further 
enhanced our tabletop exercises to understand what steps we would take and in what order if one of our systems 
was breached. We created additional mock exercises to test ourselves on how long it would take us to eliminate  
a cyber threat and return our systems to normal. And, we consult with third parties and the Department of 
Defense to stay current on emerging threats and best practices to combat these modern criminals. 

I remain confident that Hexcel will continue to lead the advanced composites industry with innovation and 
execution, providing value to you, our shareholders, for years to come. We weathered the storm, and now our 
focus is set firmly on a steep growth trajectory beginning in 2022. Our primary challenges are the kinds  
of challenges we like to have, such as how to ramp quickly to meet an increase in demand that began late  
last year and is continuing as we start 2022.

Our culture and our people are significant differentiators in our ability to deliver for you. Our people are passionate, 
collaborative and resilient. They have high expectations for themselves and our company. Our One Hexcel Team 
does not let difficult circumstances cause them to feel like victims. They rally and support each other and care 
about one another and our performance. We asked much of them in 2021, and I am deeply humbled and grateful 
for their contributions.

Hexcel Board of Directors
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GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS 

Hexcel Corporation and its subsidiaries (herein referred to as 
“Hexcel”, “the Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our”), is a global leader 
in advanced lightweight composites technology. We propel the 
future of flight, energy generation, transportation, and recreation 
through excellence in providing innovative high-performance 
material solutions that are lighter, stronger and tougher, helping to 
create a better world for us all. Our broad product range includes 
carbon fiber, specialty reinforcements, prepregs and other fiber-
reinforced matrix materials, honeycomb, resins, engineered core 
and composite structures for use in commercial aerospace, space 
and defense, and industrial applications. 

We serve international markets through manufacturing facilities, 
sales offices and representatives located in the Americas, Asia Pa-
cific, Europe, India, and Africa. We also have a presence in Malay-
sia where we are a partner in a joint venture which manufactures 
composite structures for Commercial Aerospace applications.

We are a manufacturer of products within a single industry: 
Advanced Composites. We have two reportable segments: 
Composite Materials and Engineered Products. The Composite 
Materials segment is comprised of our carbon fiber, specialty 
reinforcements, resin systems, prepregs and other fiber-reinforced 
matrix materials, and honeycomb core product lines and pul-
truded profiles. The Engineered Products segment is comprised 
of lightweight high strength composite structures, RF/EMI and 
microwave absorbing materials, engineered core and specialty 
machined honeycomb products with added functionality and 
thermoplastic additive manufacturing.

Since the COVID-19 pandemic began, we have seen the 
impacts of COVID-19 on our markets and operations, including 
significant decreases in air traffic, temporary shutdowns of our 
customers’ and suppliers’ facilities and decreased demand from 
our customers. Our operations, margins and results have been 
adversely impacted by lower demand for our products due to 
substantial reductions in original equipment manufacturer build 
rates combined with a move to reduce inventory throughout our 
supply chain, particularly carbon fiber. The COVID-19 pandemic 

has had and may have further negative impacts on our opera-
tions, supply chain, transportation networks and customers, all 
of which may continue to compress our margins, even after the 
preventative and precautionary measures that we, other busi-
nesses and governments have taken and may take in the future. 
The COVID-19 pandemic is adversely affecting the economies 
and financial markets globally and has contributed to volatile sup-
ply and demand conditions affecting prices and volumes in the 
markets for our products, services and raw materials, which could 
continue for an extended period of time. 

In 2021, the Commercial Aerospace market began to see signs 
of recovery from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including 
an increase in domestic air travel and the conclusion of supply 
chain inventory destocking. The extent to which COVID-19 will 
continue to adversely impact our business, potentially diminish-
ing the signs of recovery that began in 2021, depends on future 
developments, including availability of effective vaccines and 
medical treatments for all age groups and the rate of vaccinations 
and their effectiveness against new variants of COVID-19, as well 
as any other new information concerning the effectiveness of ac-
tions taken globally to contain or mitigate the effects of COVID-19 
and the emergence and impact of new variants of COVID-19. The 
uncertainty over the future economic and operational impacts of 
COVID-19 means the future financial impact to the Company can-
not be reasonably estimated at this time. 

The following summaries describe the ongoing activities related 
to the Composite Materials and Engineered Products segments 
as of December 31, 2021. 

Composite Materials 
The Composite Materials segment manufactures and markets 

carbon fibers, fabrics, and specialty reinforcements, prepregs 
and other fiber-reinforced matrix materials, structural adhesives, 
honeycomb, molding compounds, tooling materials, polyurethane 
systems and laminates that are incorporated into many applica-
tions, including commercial and military aircraft, transportation 
(including automotive, marine and trains), wind turbine blades, 
recreational products, and other industrial applications. 
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Carbon Fibers: HexTow® carbon fibers are manufactured for 
sale to third-party customers as well as for our own use in manu-
facturing certain reinforcements and composite materials. Carbon 
fibers are also woven into carbon fabrics, used as reinforcement 
in conjunction with a resin matrix to produce pre-impregnated 
composite materials (referred to as “prepregs”). Carbon fiber is 
also used in filament winding to produce finished composite com-
ponents. Key product applications include structural components 
for commercial and military aircraft and rotorcraft, space launch 
vehicles, and certain other applications such as recreational and 
industrial equipment.

Fabrics, Multi-axials and Specialty Reinforcements: Hex-
Force® fabrics, multi-axials and specialty reinforcements are made 
from a variety of fibers, including carbon, glass, aramid and other 
high strength polymers, quartz, ceramic and other specialty fibers. 
These reinforcements are used in the production of prepregs and 
other matrix materials for aerospace and select industrial markets 
including wind energy blades, automotive components, oil explo-
ration and production equipment, boats, surfboards, skis and 
other sporting goods equipment. 

Prepregs: HexPly® prepregs are manufactured for sale to third-
party customers and for internal use by our Engineered Products 
segment in manufacturing composite laminates and monolithic 
structures. Prepregs are used in primary and secondary structural 
aerospace applications such as wing components, horizontal 
and vertical stabilizer components, fairings, radomes, engine fan 
blades and cases, engine nacelles as well as overhead storage 
bins and other interior components. They are also used in many 
of the industrial and recreational products noted above. Prepregs 
are manufactured by combining high-performance reinforcement 
fabrics or unidirectional fibers with a resin matrix to form a com-
posite material that, when cured, has exceptional structural prop-
erties not present in either of the constituent materials individually. 

Prepregs are applied via hand layup, automatic tape layup and 
advanced fiber placement to produce finished composite com-
ponents. Prepreg reinforcements include glass, carbon, aramid, 
quartz, ceramic and other specialty fibers. Resin matrices include 
bismaleimide, cyanate ester, epoxy, phenolic, polyimide and other 
specialty resins. 

Other Fiber-Reinforced Matrix Materials: Fiber reinforced 
matrix developments include HexTool®, a specialized form of 
quasi-isotropic carbon fiber prepreg for use in the cost-effective 
construction of high temperature resistant composite tooling. 
HexFIT® film infusion material is a product that combines resin 
films and dry fiber reinforcements to save lay-up time in produc-
tion and enables the manufacture of large contoured composite 
structures, such as wind turbine blades. 

Resins: HexFlow® polymer matrix materials are sold in liquid 
and film form for use in direct process manufacturing of compos-
ite parts. Resins can be combined with fiber reinforcements in 
manufacturing processes such as resin transfer molding, resin film 
infusion or vacuum assisted resin transfer molding to produce high 
quality composite components for both aerospace and industrial 
applications, without the need for customer investment in auto-
claves. 

Structural Adhesives: We manufacture and market a com-
prehensive range of HexBond® film and paste adhesives. These 
structural adhesives, which bond metal to metal and composites 
and honeycomb structures, are used in the aerospace industry 
and for many industrial applications.

Honeycomb: HexWeb® honeycomb is a lightweight, cellular 
structure generally composed of a sheet of nested hexagonal 
cells. It can also be manufactured in over-expanded and asym-
metric cell configurations to meet special design requirements 
such as contours or complex curvatures. Honeycomb is primarily 

 
The following table identifies the principal products and examples of the primary end-uses from the Composite Materials segment: 

SEGMENT PRODUCTS PRIMARY END-USES

Composite Materials Carbon Fibers •	 Raw materials for prepregs, fabrics and specialty reinforcements
•	 Filament winding for various aerospace, defense and industrial 

applications

Fabrics, Multi-axials and  
Specialty Reinforcements

•	 Raw materials for prepregs
•	 Composites and components used in aerospace, defense, 

wind energy, automotive, recreation, marine and other industrial 
applications

Prepregs, Other Fiber-Reinforced  
Matrix Materials and Resins

•	 Epoxy resin systems
•	 Composite structures
•	 Commercial and military aircraft components
•	 Satellites and launchers
•	 Aero-engines
•	 Rotorcraft and wind turbine blades
•	 Automotive, marine and trains
•	 Skis, snowboards, bicycles and hockey sticks 

Structural Adhesives •	 Bonding of metals, honeycomb and composite materials

Honeycomb •	 Composite structures and interiors
•	 Impact and shock absorption systems
•	 Rotorcraft blades
•	 Acousti-Cap®

Pultruded Profiles •	 Tubes, rods, robotics and medical applications 
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Net sales for the Composite Materials segment to third-party 
customers were $1,019.4 million in 2021, $1,185.9 million in 2020, 
and $1,863.1 million in 2019, which represented about 80% of our 
net sales each year. Net sales for composite materials are highly 
dependent upon the number of commercial aircraft produced as 
further discussed under the captions “Significant Customers.” 
“Markets” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan-
cial Condition and Results of Operations.” 

Engineered Products 
The Engineered Products segment manufactures and markets 

composite structures and precision machined honeycomb parts 
primarily for use in the aerospace industry. Composite structures 

are manufactured from a variety of composite and other materials, 
including prepregs, honeycomb, and structural adhesives, using 
such manufacturing processes as autoclave processing, multi-
axis numerically controlled machining, heat forming, infusion and 
other composite manufacturing techniques. Composite structures 
include HexAM® 3D printed parts, which offer significant weight 
cost and time-to-market reductions compared to incumbent metal 
or traditional composite technologies. This segment also provides 
advanced interference control materials, structural composites, 
and services; dielectric absorber foams and honeycomb; mag-
netic absorbers; and thermoplastics for commercial and defense 
applications.

used as a lightweight core material and acts as a highly efficient 
energy absorber. When sandwiched between composite or metal-
lic facing skins, honeycomb significantly increases the stiffness of 
the structure, while adding very little weight. 

We produce honeycomb from a number of metallic and 
non-metallic materials. Most metallic honeycomb is made from 
aluminum and is available in a selection of alloys, cell sizes and 
dimensions. Non-metallic materials used in the manufacture 
of honeycomb include fiberglass, carbon fiber, thermoplastics, 
non-flammable aramid papers, aramid fiber and other specialty 
materials. 

We sell honeycomb as standard blocks and in slices cut from a 
block. Aerospace is the largest market for honeycomb products.

The following tables identify the key customers and the major manufacturing facilities of the Composite Materials segment: 

COMPOSITE MATERIALS
KEY CUSTOMERS

Aernnova CTRM Aero Composites Northrop Grumman
Airbus Daher Pratt & Whitney (1)
AVIC Embraer Safran
Bell FACC Sikorsky (2)
Blizzard General Electric Solvay
BMW GKN Spirit Aerosystems
The Boeing Company Leonardo Toray
Bombardier Lockheed Martin Triumph
CFAN Mubea Raytheon Technologies
Collins Aerospace  (1) Nordam Vestas

MAJOR MANUFACTURING FACILITIES

Casa Grande, Arizona Leicester, England Salt Lake City, Utah
Dagneux, France Les Avenières, France Seguin, Texas
Decatur, Alabama Neumarkt, Austria Stade, Germany
Duxford, England Parla, Spain Tianjin, China
Illescas, Spain Roussillon, France Vert-le-Petit, France

Our HexWeb® Acousti-Cap® sound attenuating honeycomb 
provides dramatic noise reduction during takeoff and landing 
without a structural weight penalty, Acousti-Cap® incorporates 
a non-metallic, permeable cap material that is embedded into 
honeycomb core. In addition, we produce honeycomb for our 
Engineered Products segment for use in manufacturing finished 
parts for airframe original equipment manufacturers. 

Polyspeed® Pultruded Profiles: Hexcel manufactures a wide 
range of pultruded sections including rods, flat sections, tubes 
and specific profiles that are usually made from carbon fiber but 
can also be made from glass, quartz, basalt or other fibers. The 
profile matrix is a Hexcel formulation of thermoset resin (epoxy or 
polyurethane). Hexcel pultruded profiles are used in a wide range 
of industrial applications.

(1)	� A Raytheon Technologies Company.
(2)	� A Lockheed Martin Company.
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MARKETS 

Our products are sold for a broad range of end-uses where 
durability, strength and weight are important factors to our 
customers. We sell to three different markets: Commercial 
Aerospace, Space & Defense and Industrial.

Commercial Aerospace 
The Commercial Aerospace industry is our largest user of 

advanced composites. Commercial Aerospace represented 50% 
of our 2021 net sales. Approximately 82% of these revenues can 
be identified as sales to Airbus, Boeing, and their subcontractors 
for the production of commercial aircraft. Approximately 18% 
of these revenues were for business jets, regional and other 
commercial aircraft. The economic benefits airlines obtain from 
weight savings in both fuel economy and aircraft range, combined 
with the design enhancement that comes from the advantages 
of advanced composites over traditional materials, has resulted 
in the aerospace industry becoming the leader in the adoption 
and use of these materials. While military aircraft and spacecraft 
have led the development and adoption of these materials, 
Commercial Aerospace has greater production volumes and 
has commercialized the use of these products. Accordingly, the 
demand for advanced composites structural material products is 
closely correlated to the demand for new commercial aircraft. 

The use of advanced composites in Commercial Aerospace 
is primarily in the manufacture of new commercial aircraft. These 
composite materials are designed to last the life of the aircraft and 
engine so as a result, the aftermarket for these products is minimal. 
The demand for new commercial aircraft is driven by two principal 
factors, the first of which is airline passenger traffic (the number of 
revenue passenger miles flown by the airlines) which affects the 
required size of airline fleets. Growth in passenger traffic requires 
growth in the size of the fleet of commercial aircraft operated by 
airlines worldwide. 

A second factor, which is less sensitive to the general 
economy, is the replacement rates for existing aircraft. The rates 
of retirement of passenger and freight aircraft, resulting mainly 
from obsolescence, are determined in part by the regulatory 
requirements established by various civil aviation authorities 
worldwide as well as public concern regarding aircraft age, 
safety, noise, and emissions. These rates may also be affected 
by the desire of the various airlines to improve operating costs 
with higher payloads and more fuel-efficient aircraft (which in turn 
is influenced by the price of fuel) and by reducing maintenance 
expense. In addition, pressure is increasing on airlines to replace 
their aging fleet with more fuel efficient and quieter aircraft to 
be more environmentally responsible. For example, aircraft 
operators subject to the European Union Emissions Trading 
Scheme (EU-ETS) are facing significantly higher costs to purchase 

Net sales for the Engineered Products segment to third-party 
customers were $305.3 million in 2021, $316.5 million in 2020, 
and $492.6 million in 2019, which represented approximately 20% 
of our net sales each year. 

The Engineered Products segment includes a 50% ownership 
interest in a Malaysian joint venture, Aerospace Composites 
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. (“ACM”) with Boeing Worldwide Operations 
Limited. Hexcel historically purchased certain semi-finished 
composite components from the joint venture and performed 
inspection and additional assembly work prior to direct delivery 
to Boeing production lines. As part of Boeing’s supply chain 
optimization, this assembly work has been transferred overseas 
in stages in 2020 and 2021 to other parts of the Boeing supply 
chain, including ACM. Effective January 1, 2022, all of this work 
was transferred and Hexcel no longer purchases semi-finished 
components from ACM. Under the ACM joint venture structure, 
50% of ACM net income continues to accrue to Hexcel. ACM had 
revenue of $30 million in 2021, and $24 million and $61 million in 
2020 and 2019, respectively. 

The following table identifies the key customers and the major 
manufacturing facilities of the Engineered Products segment: 

ENGINEERED PRODUCTS
KEY CUSTOMERS MAJOR MANUFACTURING FACILITIES

The Boeing Company Amesbury, Massachusetts 
Bell Burlington, Washington
CTRM Aero Composites Casablanca, Morocco
General Electric Kent, Washington
GKN Pottsville, Pennsylvania
Lockheed Martin South Windsor, Connecticut
Sikorsky, a Lockheed  
Martin Company

Welkenraedt, Belgium

Spirit Aerosystems
Raytheon Technologies

SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS 

Approximately 33%, 33% and 39% of our 2021, 2020 and 
2019 net sales, respectively, were to Airbus and its subcontrac-
tors. Of the 33% of overall sales to Airbus and its subcontractors 
in 2021, 29% related to Commercial Aerospace market applica-
tions and 4% related to Space & Defense market applications. 
Approximately 16%, 19% and 25% of our 2021, 2020 and 2019 
net sales, respectively, were to Boeing and its subcontractors. Of 
the 16% of overall sales to Boeing and its subcontractors in 2021, 
12% related to Commercial Aerospace market applications and 
4% related to Space & Defense market applications. 

The following tables identify the principal products and examples of the primary end-uses from the Engineered Products segment: 

SEGMENT PRODUCTS PRIMARY END-USES

Engineered Products Composite Structures •	 Aircraft structures and finished aircraft components, including 
wing to body fairings, wing panels, flight deck panels, door 
liners, rotorcraft blades, spars and tip caps

Engineered Honeycomb •	 Aircraft structural sub-components and semi-finished 
components used in rotorcraft blades, engine nacelles, and 
aircraft surfaces (flaps, wings, elevators and fairings)

RF Interference Control •	 Military and aerospace applications 
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carbon credits for compliance compared to the cost a few years 
ago, which may influence fleet replacement plans to purchase 
lightweight new aircraft. Additionally, the International Civil Aviation 
Organization (ICAO) Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for 
International Aviation (CORSIA) emission reduction mandates for 
international aviation become mandatory later this decade, which 
may influence fleet renewal in the coming years. When aircraft are 
retired from commercial airline fleets, they may be converted to 
cargo freight aircraft, used for parts, or scrapped. 

An additional factor that may cause airlines to defer or cancel 
orders is their ability to obtain financing, including leasing, for new 
aircraft orders. This will be dependent both upon the financial 
health of the airline operators, as well as the overall availability of 
financing in the marketplace. 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, aircraft manufacturers 
significantly reduced production rates during 2020 as demand 
for new aircraft decreased significantly. Select aircraft production 
rates began to modestly increase in 2021 but remain well below 
the pre-pandemic peak production rates of 2019. Additionally, the 
parked fleet of commercial aircraft reached record levels globally 
in April 2020 as passenger traffic fell and airlines reduced capacity. 
Since this time, aircraft continue to return to service but the parked 
fleet remains elevated due to the continuing impact on air travel 
from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Each new generation of commercial aircraft has used increasing 
quantities of advanced composites, replacing metals and other 
materials. This follows the trend previously witnessed in military 
applications where composites now comprise the majority of the 
airframe of latest generation aircraft to enhance performance, 
range and payload, including the F-35 Lightning and the CH-
53K heavy lift transport helicopter. Early versions of commercial 
jet aircraft, such as the Boeing 707, which was developed in 
the early 1950’s, contained almost no composite materials. 
One of the first commercial aircraft to use a meaningful amount 
of composite materials, the Boeing 767 entered into service 
in 1983, and contains approximately 6% composite materials, 
primarily comprised of interior secondary composite structures. 
Boeing’s legacy 777 aircraft, which entered service in 1995, is 
approximately 11% composite including composite flaps/ailerons 
and landing gear doors. The Airbus A380, which was first delivered 
in 2007, has approximately 23% composite content by weight 
as the tail structure was built of composites. The Boeing 777X 
was redesigned with composite wings and a new composite-rich 
engine and is more than 30% composites. Boeing’s B787, which 
entered into service in 2011, has a content of more than 50% 
composite materials by weight including composite wings and 
fuselage. The Airbus A350 XWB (“A350”) which has a composite 
content of 53% by weight was first delivered in December 2014. 

Engines and nacelles are also an attractive market for both 
Hexcel Composite Materials and Engineered Products, including 
composite fan blades, cowlings, and the nacelle. Both Airbus 
and Boeing introduced new versions of their narrow body aircraft 
which utilize composite-rich engines and nacelles, but continue 
to incorporate metal wings and fuselages that were designed 
decades ago. Airbus’s A320neo had its first customer delivery in 
2016 and Boeing’s B737 MAX entered into service in 2017. The 
LEAP engines and nacelles on both the A320neo and B737 MAX 
are composite-rich as is the GE9X engine on the Boeing 777X. 

It is expected that future aircraft platforms will offer more 
opportunities for composite materials than their predecessors, 
as the Commercial Aerospace industry continues to utilize a 
greater proportion of advanced composite materials with each 

new generation of aircraft and each new generation of engines 
and nacelles. We refer to this steady expansion of the use of 
composites in aircraft as the “secular penetration of composites” 
as it potentially increases our average sales per airplane over time. 

The impact on Hexcel of Airbus and Boeing production rate 
changes is typically influenced by two factors: the mix of aircraft 
produced and the inventory supply chain effects of increases or 
reductions in aircraft production. We have products on all Airbus 
and Boeing planes. The shipset or dollar value of our materials 
varies by aircraft type and aircraft platform. Newer designed 
aircraft use more of our materials than older generations, and as a 
materials provider, larger aircraft use more composites by weight 
than smaller aircraft. On average, for established programs, we 
deliver products into the supply chain about six months prior to 
aircraft delivery, with a range between one and eighteen months 
depending on the product and specific aircraft platform. For 
aircraft that are in the development or ramp-up stage we will have 
sales as much as several years in advance of delivery. 

Airbus and Boeing combined backlog at December 31, 2021 
was 12,216 aircraft, or a 0.3% increase compared to December 
31, 2020. The production rates in 2021 remained low due to the 
impact of COVID-19 on air travel, low production rates of the 
Boeing 737 MAX following the aircraft’s grounding that was only 
lifted in select regions by the end of 2020 and low production rates 
of the Boeing 787 following a temporary cessation of deliveries 
that was implemented during the second half of 2021. The 
balance of our Commercial Aerospace sales is related to regional 
and business aircraft manufacture, and other commercial aircraft 
applications. These applications also exhibit increasing utilization 
of composite materials with each new generation of aircraft. 

Space & Defense 
The Space & Defense market has historically been an innovator 

in the use of, and source of significant demand for, advanced 
composites. The aggregate demand by Space & Defense 
customers is primarily a function of procurement of military aircraft 
that utilize advanced composites, primarily by the United States 
and certain European governments, including both commercial 
and military rotorcraft. We are qualified to supply materials to a 
broad range of military aircraft, commercial helicopter and space 
programs, including the Lockheed Martin F-35 (Lightning), Bell-
Boeing V-22 (Osprey) tilt rotor aircraft, UH-60 Black Hawk and 
Airbus A400M military transport. The F-35, which is our largest 
program, represents less than 25% of revenues in this market. No 
other program accounts for more than 10% of our revenues in this 
market. The sales from these programs are dependent upon those 
that are funded and the extent of the funding. Space applications 
for advanced composites include solid rocket booster cases, 
fairings and payload doors for both government funded and 
commercial launch vehicles, and satellite buss and solar arrays for 
military and commercial satellites. 

Another growth generating trend for Hexcel is the further 
penetration of composites in rotorcraft blades, including both new 
and replacement blades. The UH-60 wide chord blade program 
and blades for the V-22 were the two largest blade programs in 
2021. CH-53K is a future growth program, including the composite 
helicopter blades and new helicopter programs in development 
which use Hexcel composites in prototypes. The blades include 
Composite Materials products such as carbon fiber, prepregs, 
and honeycomb core to improve blade performance. In addition, 
our Engineered Products segment provides specialty value added 
services such as machining, sub-assembly, and even full blade 
manufacturing for rotorcraft.
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The Space & Defense market represented 33% of our 2021 net 
sales. While our Space & Defense market has been disrupted by 
the COVID-19 pandemic, the impact has been significantly less 
than the impact to our Commercial Aerospace market. As a result, 
our Space & Defense sales comprised a greater percentage of 
our 2021 net sales than Space & Defense sales have historically 
comprised prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. In the five fiscal years 
prior to the start of the pandemic, including 2015 through 2019, 
Space & Defense sales comprised between 16% and 19% of 
total net sales. When the Commercial Aerospace market recovers 
to pre-COVID-19 pandemic levels, we would expect Space 
& Defense sales to return to a range generally consistent with 
historical pre-pandemic percentages.

Industrial 
The Industrial market represented 17% of our 2021 net sales. 

The revenue from this market includes wind turbine blades, 
automotive, a wide variety of recreational products, consumer 
electronics, marine and other industrial applications. A number 
of these applications represent emerging opportunities for 
our products. In developing new applications, we seek those 
opportunities where advanced composites technology offers 
significant benefits to the end user, often applications that 
demand high engineering performance. This includes carbon fiber 
and resin formulations that we produce as well as glass fiber we 
purchase from third parties that we then combine with our resin 
and weaving expertise. Within the Industrial market, wind energy 
has historically comprised the largest submarket with Vestas 
Wind Systems A/S (“Vestas”) as our primary customer. Demand 
in our wind energy sub-market declined in 2021 due in part to 
the commoditization and outsourcing of blades with a change in 
technology from prepreg using glass fiber that we purchased from 
third parties to infusion. The Industrial market also includes sales 
to major end user sub-markets, in order of size based on our 2021 
sales: general industrial applications (including those sold through 
distributors), transportation (e.g., automobiles, mass transit 
and high-speed rail, and marine applications) and recreational 
equipment (e.g., skis and snowboards, bicycles and hockey 
sticks). Our participation in Industrial applications complements 
our commercial and military aerospace businesses, and in many 
instances, technology or products now used in aerospace were 
started in Industrial. We are committed to pursuing the utilization 
of advanced structural material technology and introducing new 
innovations to support our customers in response to changing 
market dynamics in Industrial markets where it can generate 
significant value and we can maintain a sustainable competitive 
advantage. 

Further discussion of our markets, including certain risks, 
uncertainties, and other factors with respect to “forward-looking 
statements” about those markets, is contained under the captions 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations” and “Forward Looking Statements”. 

BACKLOG 
In recent years, our customers have demanded shorter order 

lead times and “just-in-time” delivery performance. While we have 
many multi-year contracts with our major aerospace customers 
and our largest Industrial customer, most of these contracts 
specify the proportion of the customers’ requirements that will be 
supplied by us and the terms under which the sales will occur, 
not the specific quantities to be procured or the specific dates for 
delivery. Our Industrial customers have always desired to order 

their requirements on as short a lead-time as possible. As a result, 
twelve-month order backlog is not a meaningful trend indicator 
for us. 

RAW MATERIALS AND PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES 
Our manufacturing operations are in many cases vertically 

integrated. One example of the benefits of our vertical integration 
is that it enables us to control both the carbon fiber surface 
structure and resin formulations to optimize their interaction and 
ensure excellent interfacial adhesion or bonding. We produce and 
internally use carbon fibers, industrial fabrics, composite materials, 
and composite structures as well as sell these materials to third-
party customers for their use in the manufacture of their products. 

We manufacture high performance carbon fiber from 
polyacrylonitrile precursor (“PAN”). The primary raw material 
for PAN is acrylonitrile. All of the PAN we produce is for internal 
carbon fiber production. We utilized between 55% and 60% by 
value of the carbon fiber we produced in 2021 and between 
60% and 65% in 2020, with the remainder of our output sold 
to third-party customers. However, as one of the world’s largest 
consumers of high-performance carbon fiber, we also purchase 
significant quantities of carbon fiber from external sources for our 
own use. The sources of carbon fiber we can use in any product 
or application are generally dictated by customer qualifications 
or certifications. Otherwise, we select a carbon fiber based on 
performance, price, and availability. With the increasing demand 
for carbon fiber, particularly in aerospace applications, in recent 
years we increased our PAN and carbon fiber capacity to serve 
the growing needs of our customers and our own downstream 
products. After a new production line starts operating, it can take 
up to a year to be certified for aerospace applications. However, 
these lines can start supplying carbon fiber for many industrial 
applications within a shorter time period. 

We formulate a variety of resin systems that are tailored to specific 
applications and support the process for manufacturing composite 
parts. The type of epoxy and curative used in the resin systems 
vary depending on the application being considered, including 
the required service temperature, mechanical performance, and 
rate of cure. We continually focus on innovation that will help our 
customers reduce their cycle time and increase their production 
through put, including lower curing temperatures, faster curing 
times, and enhancing the flow characteristics of the resin 
formulations, particularly for infusion manufacturing processes.

We purchase glass yarn for our aerospace and industrial 
markets from a number of suppliers in the United States, Europe 
and Asia. We also purchase aramid and high strength fibers which 
are produced by only a few companies, and during periods of 
high demand, can be in short supply. In addition, epoxy and 
other specialty resins, aramid paper and aluminum specialty foils 
are used in the manufacture of composite products. A number 
of these products have only one or two sources qualified for 
use, so an interruption in their supply could disrupt our ability to 
meet our customer requirements. When entering into multi-year 
contracts with aerospace customers, we attempt to get back-to-
back commitments from key raw material suppliers. While we are 
not dependent on any one supplier for the majority of our raw 
materials, we are highly dependent on our suppliers in order to 
meet commitments to our customers. During 2021, as a result 
of the challenges created by global transportation issues, the 
COVID-19 pandemic and market volatility, we experienced minor 
supply disruptions and anticipate that supply disruptions and 
material shortages may continue. We continue to work with our 
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key suppliers who have been impacted by these supply disruptions 
to ensure that we are able to meet our customer commitments. 
While we have not experienced materially significant issues in 
the purchase of key raw materials, we continue to monitor the 
availability (including transportation) and price of raw materials on 
a regular basis, as well as any potential impact on our operations.

Our manufacturing activities are primarily based on “make-
to-order”, or “demand pull” based on customer schedules, and 
to a lesser extent, “make-to-forecast” production requirements. 
We coordinate closely with key suppliers in an effort to avoid 
raw material shortages and excess inventories. However, many 
of the key raw materials we consume are available from relatively 
few sources, and in many cases the cost of product qualification 
makes it impractical to develop multiple sources of supply. The lack 
of availability of these materials could under certain circumstances 
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of 
operations. 

RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY;  
PATENTS AND KNOW-HOW 

Our Research and Technology (“R&T”) centers of excellence 
located globally support our businesses worldwide. Through R&T 
activities, we maintain expertise in precursor and carbon fiber, 
chemical and polymer formulation and curatives, fabric forming 
and textile architectures, advanced composite structures, process 
engineering, application development, analysis and testing of 
composite materials, computational design, and other scientific 
disciplines related to our worldwide business base. 

Our products rely primarily on our expertise in materials science, 
textiles, process engineering and polymer chemistry. Consistent 
with market demand, we have been placing more emphasis 
on higher performing products and cost-effective production 
processes while seeking continually to improve the consistency 
of our products and our capital efficiency. Towards this end, we 
have entered formal and informal alliances, as well as licensing 
and teaming arrangements, with several customers, suppliers, 
external agencies, and laboratories. We believe that we possess 
unique capabilities to design, develop, manufacture, and qualify 
composite materials and structures, including trade secrets and 
extensive internal knowledge gained from decades of experience. 
It is our policy to actively enforce our proprietary rights. We believe 
that the patents and know-how rights currently owned or licensed 
by Hexcel are adequate for the conduct of our business. We do 
not believe that our business would be materially affected by the 
expiration of any single patent or series of related patents, or by 
the termination of any single license agreement or series of related 
license agreements.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
We view climate-change as an important social issue that 

presents some level of risk to our business while also creating 
opportunities for greater composite adoption. Our strategic and 
operational decision making is influenced by our commitment 
to reduce the environmental impact of our operations, including 
our carbon footprint, air and water emissions and waste 
reduction. We continue to improve our emissions profile through 
operational efficiency improvements that lessen our use of fossil 
fuels and by increasing our use of renewable power. We have 
implemented sustainable energy sourcing within certain of our 
operations, with recent solar projects at our manufacturing sites 
in Neumarkt, Austria, Casa Grande, Arizona, and Casablanca, 

Morocco. The generation of solar power reduces our demand 
for fossil-fuel powered electricity, which supports our carbon and 
greenhouse gas emission reduction goals. We have applied this 
same approach to our product life cycle, implementing circular 
economic principles to reduce waste – both in our manufacturing 
and product packaging. At this time, we are not subject to carbon 
emission trading programs at any of our facilities, though we are 
actively monitoring country and region-specific regulations and 
trends to ensure pricing and capital expenditures are incorporated 
into our future product portfolio planning.

The increasing global emphasis on emissions reduction 
is a trend that is supportive of our advanced composite light 
weighting solutions for transportation applications. We also 
market composite solutions that reduce aircraft engine noise, 
which benefits local communities near airports, supports aircraft 
operators in geographies that are subject to local noise abatement 
programs, and enables more direct routes for aircraft that saves 
fuel rather than having to fly longer routes to avoid noise-sensitive 
areas.

We are subject to various U.S. and international federal, state, 
and local environmental and health and safety laws and regulations. 
We are also potentially subject to liabilities arising under the 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 
Liability Act (“CERCLA” or “Superfund”), the Clean Air Act, the 
Clean Water Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 
and similar state local and international laws and regulations that 
impose responsibility for the control, remediation and abatement 
of air, water and soil pollutants and the manufacturing, storage, 
handling and disposal of hazardous substances and waste. We 
believe that our policies, practices, and procedures are properly 
designed to prevent unreasonable risk of environmental damage 
and associated financial liability. To date, environmental control 
regulations have not had a significant adverse effect on our overall 
operations.

A discussion of environmental matters is contained in Note 16 
to the accompanying consolidated financial statements included 
in this Annual Report. 

OTHER REGULATORY MATTERS
As a materials supplier for U.S. prime contractors, we are subject 

to certain U.S. government Federal Acquisition Regulations, 
the Department of Defense Federal Acquisition Regulations 
Supplement, and associated procurement regulations. As a result 
of our acquisition of ARC Technologies LLC in 2019, we have 
expanded our portfolio of U.S. government contracts and thereby 
increased our federal legal and regulatory compliance obligations. 
Specifically, we must comply with certain laws and regulations 
relating to the formation, administration, and performance of 
U.S. government contracts, including the government security 
requirements and additional government export control laws and 
regulations. In complying with these laws and regulations, we may 
be required to make additional capital expenditures and incur other 
costs. Furthermore, failure to comply may result in the imposition of 
fines and penalties, including contractual damages, civil penalties, 
criminal penalties, or administrative sanctions, or suspension or 
debarment from contracting with the U.S. government.

As a company with significant international operations, we 
are also subject to numerous laws and regulations, including 
U.S. export controls and sanctions laws, customs regulations, 
international treaties and local trade rules around the world. 
These laws, rules and regulations may impose significant costs of 
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compliance on the Company and may impact our competitiveness 
through restricting our ability to do business in certain places or 
with certain entities and individuals. The consequences of any 
failure to comply with trade regulations could limit our ability to 
conduct business internationally.

SALES AND MARKETING 
A staff of salaried marketing managers, product managers and 

sales personnel, sell and market our products directly to customers 
worldwide. We also use independent authorized distributors for 
certain products, markets, and regions. In addition, we operate 
various sales representation offices globally. 

COMPETITION 
In the production and sale of advanced composites, we compete 

with a number of U.S. and international companies on a worldwide 
basis. The broad markets for composites are highly competitive, 
and we have focused on both specific sub-markets and specialty 
products within markets. In addition to competing directly with 
companies offering similar products, we compete with producers 
of substitutes for composites such as metal, structural foam, 
and wood. Depending upon the material and markets, relevant 
competitive factors include technology, product performance, 
historical database of usage, delivery, service, price, customer 
preference for sole sourcing and customer preferred processes. 

We believe that new competitors face significant barriers 
to entry into many of our markets. These barriers include the 
intellectual property and unique skills and expertise to design 
and manufacture carbon fiber and to formulate resin systems for 
aerospace applications, an extensive database of qualification 
and performance measurements of our products, the advantages 
of scale derived from significant global manufacturing capacity 
for aerospace-grade carbon fiber, and long-term customer 
relationships developed over decades of designing, manufacturing 
and working closely with our customers on composite applications. 
Further, the aerospace industry has rigorous product certification 
requirements and quality programs including one hundred 
percent traceability of all raw material and finished goods, and 
high expectations for consistent on-time delivery, which all act as 
barriers to entry.

HUMAN CAPITAL 
We believe our success depends on the skills, experience, and 

industry knowledge of our key talent. As such, our management 
team places significant focus and attention on the attraction, 
development, and retention of employees, as well as ensuring 
our corporate culture reflects Hexcel’s values, and our board 
of directors provides oversight for various employee initiatives. 
Our Hexcel values guide our actions, reflect our culture, and 
drive our performance, as explained in our Code of Business 
Conduct posted on our website at www.hexcel.com. We have 
made and continue to make significant investments in training 
and professional development, and we have well-established 

performance management and talent development processes that 
encourage employees to aspire to different career opportunities 
and for our managers to provide regular feedback and coaching 
to develop employees.

The health and safety of our employees is also a top priority. 
Over the past ten years, our focus on the reduction of injuries 
and illnesses has significantly improved our safety performance. 
We have attained these improvements by fostering a global 
safety culture supported with regular training and education that 
includes robust systems and philosophies centered on personal 
responsibility and accountability. There is a high-level of leadership 
engagement, ensuring appropriate safety equipment is installed 
and operational at all of our manufacturing sites worldwide 
combined with vigorous reviews of root causation and systemic 
corrective actions of any safety incidents that may occur.

In response to the emergence of COVID-19 in early 2020, we 
implemented a proactive internal procedure and complied with 
local, federal and international governmental guidance that has 
enabled us to maintain a safe and healthy environment for our 
employees and site visitors. Our internal procedure has evolved 
with the pandemic as a risk-based approach and varies by facility 
and region, allowing for adjustment based on local transmission 
rates and worker vulnerability. The procedures range from 
temperature screening and pre-entry questionnaires to masking 
to disciplined distancing and workzone isolation procedures. 
There are also robust contact tracing programs in place, with strict 
adherence to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 
guidance for COVID-19 isolation and quarantine. 

An engaged, innovative, skilled, and collaborative workforce is 
critical to our continued leadership in the advanced composites 
industry. We operate globally under policies and programs that 
provide competitive wages, benefits, and terms of employment. 
We are committed to efforts to increase diversity and foster an 
inclusive work environment that supports our global workforce 
through recruiting efforts, equitable compensation policies, and 
educational workshops to promote a positive and collaborative 
culture. Our diversity recruitment efforts include targeted university 
recruitment and attendance at conferences promoting racial and 
gender diversity in engineering, which have historically been a 
major source of candidates for our summer internship program 
and Early Career Program for new hires.

Employee levels are managed to align with business demand 
and management believes it currently has sufficient human capital 
to operate its business successfully. As of December 31, 2021, 
we employed 4,863 full-time employees and contract workers: 
2,611 in the United States and 2,252 in other countries. We 
employ a minimal number of contract workers. Approximately 
30% of employees in the United States and the majority of those 
in Europe are represented by collective bargaining agreements. 
We believe that our relations with employees, unions and works’ 
councils are good. The total number of full-time employees and 
contract workers as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was 4,647 
and 6,977, respectively.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
Management’s discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations for the year ended December 

31, 2021, and comparison to the year ended December 31, 2020 should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements and notes of this Annual Report. 

For discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations for 2020 compared to 2019 refer to Part II, Item 7, 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our 2020 Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
filed with the SEC on February 9, 2021, which is incorporated by reference into this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW 
Year Ended December 31,

(In millions, except per share data) 2021 2020

Net sales 	 $	1,324.7 	 $	1,502.4
Gross margin % 18.9% 16.0%
Other operating expense 	 $	 18.2 	 $	 57.9
Operating income 	 $	 51.8 	 $	 14.1
Operating income % 3.9% 0.9%
Interest expense, net 	 $	 38.3 	 $	 41.8
Other income 	 $	 (8.5) 	 $	 —
Income tax expense (benefit) 	 $	 5.9 	 $	 (61.0)
Equity in earnings (losses) from affiliated companies 	 $	 — 	 $	 (1.6)
Net income 	 $	 16.1 	 $	 31.7

Reconciliations to adjusted operating income, adjusted net income, adjusted diluted net income per share and free cash flow are 
provided below:

 Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2021 2020

GAAP operating income 	 $	 51.8 	 $	 14.1
Other operating expense (1)  18.2 57.9

Adjusted operating income (Non-GAAP) 	 $	 70.0 	 $	 72.0

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020

(In millions, except per diluted share data)
Net

Income EPS
Net 

Income EPS

GAAP net income 	 $	16.1 	 $	0.19 	 $	 31.7 	 $	0.38
Other operating expense (1) 13.4 0.16 43.6 0.52
Other income (2) (6.6) (0.08) — —
Tax expense (benefit) (3) 0.3 — (54.7) (0.65)

Adjusted net income (Non-GAAP) 	 $	23.2 	 $	0.27 	 $	 20.6 	 $	0.25

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2021 2020

Net cash provided by operating activities 	 $	151.7 	 $	264.3
Less: Capital expenditures (27.9) (50.6)

Free cash flow (Non-GAAP) 	 $	123.8 	 $	213.7

(1)	� The year ended December 31, 2021 primarily included restructuring costs as well as a charge for incentives related to employee vaccinations, partially offset by a reduction 
of a contingent liability. The year ended December 31, 2020 included severance and other costs related to global restructuring efforts as well as expenses related to the 
terminated Woodward merger. The reconciliation to Non-GAAP Net Income shows these amounts net of tax.

(2)	� The year ended December 2021 included the receipt of $10.5 million related to the Aviation Manufacturing Jobs Protection (“AMJP”) program, partially offset by a dispute 
resolution payment.

(3)	� The year ended December 31, 2021 included a net discrete tax charge primarily resulting from the revaluation of U.S and foreign deferred tax liabilities. The year ended 
December 31, 2020 included a tax benefit primarily due to the release of a valuation allowance in a foreign jurisdiction. 
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The Company uses non-GAAP financial measures, including 
sales and expenses measured in constant dollars (prior year sales 
and expenses measured at current year exchange rates); operat-
ing income, net income and earnings per share adjusted for items 
included in operating expense and non-operating expenses; and 
free cash flow. Management believes these non-GAAP measures 
are meaningful to investors because they provide a view of Hexcel 
with respect to ongoing operating results and comparisons to prior 
periods. These adjustments can represent significant charges 
or credits that we believe are important to an understanding of 
Hexcel’s overall operating results in the periods presented. Such 
non-GAAP measures are not determined in accordance with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles and should not be viewed in 
isolation or as an alternative to or substitute for GAAP measures 
of performance. Our calculation of these measures may not be 
comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies, 
and the measures exclude financial information that some may 
consider important in evaluating our performance.

BUSINESS TRENDS 

In 2021, our business and the Commercial Aerospace market 
began to see signs of recovery from the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic, with an increase in domestic air travel and the conclu-
sion of supply chain inventory destocking. Despite these improve-
ments in business and market conditions, COVID-19 has had and 
may continue to have further negative impacts on our operations, 
supply chain, transportation networks and customers, all of 
which have and may continue to compress our margins, even 
after the preventative and precautionary measures that we, other 
businesses, and governments, are taking. The global economic 
effects associated with the COVID-19 pandemic have been un-
precedented in their scope and depth and could for an extended 
period, adversely affect demand for our products and contribute 
to volatile supply and demand conditions, affecting prices and vol-
umes in the markets for our products, services, and raw materials. 

In 2021, our Commercial Aerospace sales decreased 18.7% 
compared to 2020, although sales increased during the second 
half of 2021 compared to the prior year. Sales decline in the first 
half of 2021 as compared to the prior year period was due to 
the global pandemic which led to lower commercial aircraft build 
rates and a period of inventory destocking by our customers. The 
increase in sales during the second half of 2021 showed signs of 
recovery and was led by higher narrowbody sales. The demand 
for new commercial aircraft is principally driven by two factors. The 
first is airline passenger traffic (measured by revenue passenger 

miles) and the second is the replacement rate for existing aircraft. 
Overall, the Commercial Aerospace industry continues to utilize 
a greater proportion of advanced composite materials with each 
new generation of aircraft. 

Space & Defense sales in 2021 decreased 3.0% compared 
to 2020 driven by lower Space sales including launchers and 
satellites, partially offset by stronger F-35 sales. New or retrofit 
rotorcraft programs have an increased reliance on composite 
materials. In addition, our Engineered Products segment provides 
specialty value added services such as machining, sub-assembly, 
and even full blade manufacturing for rotorcraft. Our products are 
included on a wide range of rotorcraft, military aircraft, and space 
programs, with the largest programs including the F-35 Lightning 
and CH-53K. 

Industrial sales decreased 4.3% in 2021 from 2020. Industrial 
sales include wind energy, recreation, automotive, and general 
industrial applications. In 2021, wind energy sales experienced a 
decline compared to 2020 reflecting softer demand and the ces-
sation of sales in North America. This decline was partially offset 
by growth in a variety of markets including the automotive and rec-
reation markets. In November 2020, we closed our wind energy 
prepreg production facility in Windsor, Colorado which served the 
U.S. market. Hexcel’s wind material facilities in Austria and China 
continue to produce materials for our wind energy customers in 
Europe and Asia. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

We have two reportable segments: Composite Materials and 
Engineered Products. Although these segments provide custom-
ers with different products and services, they often overlap within 
our three end business markets: Commercial Aerospace, Space 
& Defense and Industrial. Therefore, we also find it meaningful to 
evaluate the sales of our segments through these business mar-
kets. Further discussion and additional financial information about 
our segments may be found in Note 18 to the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report. 

Net Sales: Consolidated net sales of $1,324.7 million for 2021 
decreased by 11.8% (12.6% in constant currency) compared to 
2020. The sales decrease in 2021, which was primarily driven by 
the impact of the pandemic, resulted in lower demand for our prod-
ucts as commercial aerospace original equipment manufacturers 
continued their build rate reduction and supply chain destocking 
in the first half of the year. In the second half of 2021, we began to 
see the effects of recovery with an increase in new aircraft orders.

The following table summarizes net sales to third-party customers by segment and end market in 2021 and 2020: 

(In millions)
Commercial 

Aerospace
Space &  
Defense Industrial Total

2021 Net Sales
Composite Materials 	 $	 515.5 	 $	 287.4 	 $	 216.5 	 $	 1,019.4
Engineered Products 152.7 147.5 5.1 305.3

Total 	 $	 668.2 	 $	 434.9 	 $	 221.6 	 $	 1,324.7
50% 33% 17% 100%

2020 Net Sales
Composite Materials 	 $	 661.4 	 $	 297.9 	 $	 226.6 	 $	 1,185.9
Engineered Products 160.9 150.6 5.0 316.5

Total 	 $	 822.3 	 $	 448.5 	 $	 231.6 	 $	 1,502.4
55% 30% 15% 100%
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SALES BY SEGMENT 

Composite Materials: Net sales of $1,019.4 million for 2021 
decreased 14.0% from 2020. Commercial Aerospace sales 
declined 22.1% in 2021 as compared to 2020 primarily driven by 
lower sales across all major programs as build rates decreased 
compounded by extensive supply chain adjustments in response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic. Industrial sales in 2021 decreased 
4.5% from 2020 due to lower wind energy sales partially offset 
by strength in the automotive and recreation markets. Space & 
Defense 2021 sales declined 3.5% from 2020 primarily due to 
lower Space sales which included launchers and satellites.

Engineered Products: Net sales of $305.3 million for 2021 
decreased 3.5% from 2020, driven primarily by lower sales and 
lower build rates across Commercial Aerospace in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Space & Defense sales decreased approxi-
mately 2.1% and is largely attributable to lower demand for U.S. 
military helicopter programs.

SALES BY MARKET

Commercial Aerospace: Net sales of $668.2 million decreased 
$154.1 million or 18.7% (19.1% in constant currency) as com-
pared to 2020. The decline in 2021 sales were driven by lower 
commercial aircraft build rates and a period of inventory destock-
ing by customers and the supply chain as a result of the global 
pandemic which only partially impacted the prior year. The sub-
category Other Commercial Aerospace, which includes business 
and regional aircraft, decreased 10.5% in 2021 compared to 2020.

Space & Defense: Net sales of $434.9 million in 2021 decreased 
3.0% (3.4% in constant currency) compared to 2020. The decline 
in 2021 was driven by lower Space sales including launchers and 
satellites partially offset by stronger F-35 sales.

Industrial: Net sales of $221.6 million for 2021 decreased 4.3% 
(7.3% in constant currency) compared to 2020 due to lower wind 
energy sales partially offset by strength in the automotive and rec-
reation industrial markets. Wind energy sales in 2021 decreased 
35.6% (37.8% in constant currency) compared to 2020. 

2021 CONSOLIDATED RESULTS COMPARED TO 2020 

Gross Margin: Gross margin for 2021 was $250.1 million or 
18.9% of net sales as compared to $239.7 million or 16.0% of 
net sales in 2020. The improvement in 2021 was due to a favor-
able sales mix oriented towards carbon fiber combined with the 
benefits of cost reduction actions that reduced the overhead cost 
base. 

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses: 
SG&A expenses for 2021 were $135.0 million or 10.2% of net sales 
as compared to $121.1 million or 8.1% of net sales for 2020. The 
higher SG&A expenses in 2021 were primarily due to an increase 
in employee-related costs as the prior year period included ben-
efits from headcount and other temporary cost reductions made 
in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Research and Technology (“R&T”) Expenses: R&T 
expenses for 2021 were $45.1 million or 3.4% of net sales and in 
2020 were $46.6 million or 3.1% of net sales. 

Other operating expense: Other operating expenses for 
2021 of $18.2 million were primarily related to severance and 
other restructuring-related expenses. Other operating expenses of 
$57.9 million for 2020 primarily included severance costs across 

a number of facilities, the restructuring charge for the Windsor 
facility closure and costs related to the terminated merger with 
Woodward Inc. 

Operating income: Operating income for 2021 was $51.8 
million compared with operating income in 2020 of $14.1 million. 
Operating income as a percent of sales was 3.9% and 0.9% in 
2021 and 2020, respectively. The increase in operating income 
in 2021 compared to 2020 was primarily driven by strong gross 
margins, resulting from favorable sales mix and a reduction in the 
overhead cost base, as well as lower restructuring costs.

Depreciation and amortization expense of $138.0 million for 
2021 decreased $2.9 million from 2020.

Other income: Other income of $8.5 million in 2021 included 
the receipt of $10.5 million related to the AMJP program, partially 
offset by a dispute resolution payment. 

Interest expense: Interest expense was $38.3 million for 
2021 and $41.8 million for 2020, decreasing due to lower aver-
age debt levels.

Income tax expense (benefit): For the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2021 and 2020, we had a tax provision of $5.9 million 
and a tax benefit of $61.0 million, respectively. The tax benefit in 
2020 was primarily due to the release of a valuation allowance in 
a foreign jurisdiction. 

Equity in earnings (losses) from affiliated companies: 
Earnings and losses primarily represents our portion of the earn-
ings or losses from our joint venture in Malaysia. 

Net income: Net income was $16.1 million or $0.19 per diluted 
share for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to net 
income of $31.7 million or $0.38 per diluted share for the year 
ended December 31, 2020. 

FINANCIAL CONDITION 

In 2021, we ended the year with total debt, net of cash, of 
$695.6 million and generated $151.7 million of operating cash 
resulting in $123.8 million of free cash flow (cash provided by 
operating activities less cash paid for capital expenditures). Our 
cash flow needs for fiscal year 2022 will be funded by our available 
borrowings under our Senior Unsecured Revolving Facility (the 
“Facility”) as needed. 

We have a portfolio of derivatives related to currencies, interest 
rates and commodities. We monitor our counterparties and we 
only use those rated A- or better.

LIQUIDITY 

Our cash on hand at December 31, 2021 was $127.7 million, 
as compared to $103.3 million at December 31, 2020. Of the total 
cash on hand at December 31, 2021, $54.6 million was held by 
our foreign locations. As of December 31, 2021 total debt was 
$823.3 million, as compared to $926.4 million at December 31, 
2020. As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with all 
debt covenants.

In September 2020, we amended our Facility to allow for relief 
from certain terms, including adjusting the maximum leverage ratio 
covenant for a defined period. On January 28, 2021, we entered 
into the Second Amendment, which further amended the Facility 
agreement to provide that, from January 28, 2021 through and 
including March 31, 2022, we will not be subject to a maximum 
leverage ratio covenant but will instead be required to maintain 
Liquidity (as defined in the Facility agreement) of at least $250 mil-



25

lion. Additionally, during such period, the Company will be subject 
to limitations on share repurchases, cash dividends, and its ability 
to incur secured debt, in each case subject to certain exceptions. 
In addition, the Second Amendment provided that the Company 
was not subject to an interest coverage ratio covenant until the 
test period ending December 31, 2021 and revolving commit-
ments under the Facility were reduced to $750 million. 

As of December 31, 2021, total borrowings under the Facil-
ity were $125 million, which approximates fair value. The Facility 
agreement permits us to issue letters of credit up to an aggregate 
amount of $50 million. Outstanding letters of credit reduce the 
amount available for borrowing under the Facility. As of December 
31, 2021, there were no issued letters of credit under the Facility, 
resulting in undrawn availability under the Facility of $625 million. 

For more information regarding our Facility Notes, see Note 6, 
Debt, to the accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
this Annual Report. 

Short-term liquidity requirements consist primarily of normal 
recurring operating expenses and working capital needs, capital 
expenditures, dividend payments and debt service requirements. 
We expect to meet our short-term liquidity requirements through 
net cash from operating activities, cash on hand and the Facility. 
As of December 31, 2021, long-term liquidity requirements consist 
primarily of obligations under our long-term debt obligations. We 
do not have any significant required debt repayments until June 
2024 when the Facility expires.

Earlier in 2021, the Company applied for the AMJP program, 
created under the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, which 
provides funding to eligible businesses to pay up to half of their 
compensation costs for certain categories of employees, for up 
to six months. To qualify for funding, eligible companies must 
have involuntarily furloughed or laid off at least 10% of its U.S. 
workforce or have experienced at least a 15% decline in 2020 

global operating revenue. In September 2021, the U.S. Depart-
ment of Transportation announced that it had approved for the 
Company to receive up to $20.9 million under the AMJP program. 
The Company received $10.5 million of the offered funds in the 
fourth quarter of 2021 and anticipates receiving the remaining 
funds in 2022. 

Operating Activities: We generated $151.7 million in cash 
from operating activities during 2021, a decrease of $112.6 million 
from 2020. Working capital was a cash use of $18.3 million in 
2021 to support growing sales as compared to a source of $116.5 
million in 2020. 

Investing Activities: Cash used for investing activities was 
$27.9 million in 2021 compared to $50.6 million in 2020. 

Financing Activities: Financing activities were a use of cash 
of $96.8 million in 2021 as compared to $178.5 million in 2020. 
In 2021, we repaid $103 million of our senior unsecured credit 
facility. In 2020, we repaid $85 million of our senior unsecured 
credit facility and $49.9 million of our Euro term loan, repurchased 
$24.6 million of common stock and paid dividends of $14.2 mil-
lion. In response to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, we 
announced in the early part of 2020 that our dividend payments 
and stock repurchases had been suspended. 

Financial Obligations and Commitments: We had $0.9 
million of current debt maturities as of December 31, 2021. 
The next significant scheduled debt maturity will not occur until 
2024, the year the Facility matures. In addition, certain sales and 
administrative offices, data processing equipment, vehicles and 
manufacturing equipment, land and facilities are leased under 
operating leases. 

Total letters of credit issued and outstanding were $5.6 million 
as of December 31, 2021. These letters of credit were not issued 
under the Facility.

The following table summarizes the scheduled maturities as of December 31, 2021 of financial obligations and expiration dates of 
commitments for the years ended 2022 through 2026 and thereafter.
(In millions) 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Thereafter Total

Senior unsecured credit facility due 2024 	 $	 —	 $	 —	 $	125.0	 $	 —	 $	 —	 $	 —	 $	 125.0
4.7% senior notes due 2025 — — — 300.0 — — 300.0
3.95% senior notes due 2027 — — — — — 400.0 400.0
Purchase obligations 14.9 8.1 8.7 3.0 2.9 16.8 54.4
Finance lease and other 0.8 0.2 0.1 0.1 — — 1.2

Subtotal 	 $	 15.7	 $	 8.3	 $	133.8	 $	 303.1	 $	 2.9	 $	 416.8	 $	 880.6
Operating leases 10.5 9.7 8.5 6.3 6.1 17.5 58.6
Total financial obligations 	 $	 26.2	 $	 18.0	 $	142.3	 $	 309.4	 $	 9.0	 $	 434.3	 $	 939.2
Letters of credit 5.6 — — — — — 5.6
Interest payments 35.8 35.8 35.8 25.5 16.8 9.8 159.5

Estimated benefit plan contributions 8.8 9.1 21.2 8.1 9.0 44.7 100.9

Total commitments 	 $	 76.4	 $	 62.9	 $	199.3	 $	 343.0	 $	 34.8	 $	 488.8	 $	1,205.2
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As of December 31, 2021, we had $9.7 million of unrecognized 
tax benefits. This represents tax benefits associated with various 
tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, on domestic and 
international tax returns that have not been recognized in our 
financial statements due to uncertainty regarding their resolution. 
The resolution or settlement of these tax positions with the taxing 
authorities is at various stages. 

For further information regarding our financial obligations and 
commitments, see Notes 6, 7, 8 and 16 to the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared based 
upon the selection and application of accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America, which require us to 
make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect 
amounts reported in our financial statements and accompany-
ing notes. Future events and their effects cannot be determined 
with absolute certainty. Therefore, the determination of estimates 
requires the exercise of judgment. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates, and any such differences may be significant to 
the financial statements. The accounting policies below are those 
we believe are the most critical to the preparation of our financial 
statements and require the most difficult, subjective, and complex 
judgments. Our other accounting policies are described in the 
accompanying Notes to the consolidated financial statements of 
this Annual Report. 

Income Taxes
We have operations in several countries throughout the world 

where we are subject to income and similar taxes. The estimation 
of income tax amounts often involves the interpretation of com-
plex regulations and tax laws. In addition, estimations also must 
consider the impact foreign taxes may have on domestic taxes, 
as well as the analysis of the realizability of deferred tax assets, 
tax audit findings and uncertain tax positions. Although we believe 
our tax accruals are adequate, differences may occur in the future, 
depending on the resolution of pending and new tax matters.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on tem-
porary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of 
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply to 
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences 
are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is 
provided against a deferred tax asset when it is more likely than 
not that all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be 
realized. The determination of the required valuation allowance 
and the amount, if any, of deferred tax assets to be recognized 
involves significant estimates regarding the timing and amount of 
reversal of taxable temporary differences, future taxable income, 
and the implementation of tax planning strategies. In particular, 
ASC 740, Income Taxes, requires that all available positive and 
negative evidence be weighed to determine whether a valuation 
allowance should be recorded. 

We are subject to taxation in the U.S. and various states and 
foreign jurisdictions. The amount of income taxes we pay are sub-
ject to ongoing audits by federal, state and foreign tax authorities, 
which may result in proposed assessments. Our estimate for the 
potential outcome for any uncertain tax issue is judgmental. We 
assess our income tax positions, and record tax benefits for all 
years subject to examination based upon our evaluation of the 

facts, circumstances and information available at the reporting 
date. We recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized tax 
benefits as a component of interest expense and penalties as a 
component of income tax expense in the consolidated statements 
of operations. If we do not believe that it is more likely than not that 
a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit is recognized. As of 
December 31, 2021, we had uncertain tax positions for which it 
is reasonably possible that amounts of unrecognized tax benefits 
could significantly change over the next year. These uncertain tax 
positions relate to our tax returns from 2013 onward, some of 
which are currently under examination by certain U.S. and Euro-
pean tax authorities. 

For further discussion, see Note 9, Income taxes, to the accom-
panying consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report. 

Retirement and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans 
We maintain qualified defined benefit retirement plans cover-

ing certain current and former European employees, as well as 
nonqualified defined benefit retirement plans, and retirement sav-
ings plans covering certain eligible U.S. and European employees 
and participate in a union sponsored multi-employer pension plan 
covering certain U.S. employees with union affiliations. In addition, 
we provide certain postretirement health care and life insurance 
benefits to eligible U.S. retirees. We have defined benefit retire-
ment plans in the United Kingdom, Belgium, France, and Austria 
covering certain employees of our subsidiaries in those countries. 

Under the retirement savings plans, eligible U.S. employees can 
contribute up to 75% of their compensation to an individual 401(k) 
retirement savings account. We make matching contributions 
equal to 50% of employee contributions, not to exceed 3% of 
employee compensation. 

We use actuarial models to account for our pension and post-
retirement plans, which require the use of certain assumptions, 
such as the expected long-term rate of return, discount rate, 
rate of compensation increase, healthcare cost trend rates, and 
retirement and mortality rates, to determine the net periodic costs 
of such plans. These assumptions are reviewed and set annually 
at the beginning of each year. In addition, these models use an 
“attribution approach” that generally spreads individual events, 
such as plan amendments and changes in actuarial assumptions, 
over the service lives of the employees in the plan.

We use our actual return experience, future expectations of 
long-term investment returns, and our actual and targeted asset 
allocations to develop our expected rate of return assumptions 
used in the net periodic cost calculations of our funded European 
defined benefit retirement plans. Due to the difficulty involved in 
predicting the market performance of certain assets, there will 
almost always be a difference in any given year between our 
expected return on plan assets and the actual return. Following 
the attribution approach, each year’s difference is amortized over a 
number of future years. Over time, the expected long-term returns 
are designed to approximate the actual long-term returns and 
therefore result in a pattern of income and expense recognition 
that more closely matches the pattern of the services provided by 
the employees. 

We annually set our discount rate assumption for retirement-
related benefits accounting to reflect the rates available on high-
quality, fixed-income debt instruments. The rate of compensation 
increase, which is another significant assumption used in the 
actuarial model for pension accounting, is determined by us 
based upon our long-term plans for such increases and assumed 
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inflation. For the postretirement health care and life insurance 
benefits plan, we review external data and its historical trends for 
health care costs to determine the health care cost trend rates. 
Retirement and mortality rates are based primarily on actual plan 
experience. 

Actual results that differ from our assumptions are accumulated 
and amortized over future periods and therefore, generally affect 
the net periodic costs and recorded obligations in such future peri-
ods. While we believe that the assumptions used are appropriate, 
significant changes in economic or other conditions, employee 
demographics, retirement and mortality rates, and investment 
performance may materially impact such costs and obligations. 

For more information regarding our pension and other postre-
tirement benefit plans, see Note 8, Retirement and Other Pos-
temployment Benefit Plans, to the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of this Annual Report. 

Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill 
We have significant long-lived assets. We review these assets 

for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
The assessment of possible impairment is based upon our ability 
to recover the carrying value of the assets from the estimated 
undiscounted future net cash flows, before interest and taxes, 
of the related operations. If these cash flows are less than the 
carrying value of such assets, an impairment loss is recognized 
for the difference between estimated fair value and carrying value. 
The measurement of impairment requires estimates of these cash 
flows and fair value. The calculation of fair value is determined 
based on discounted cash flows. In determining fair value, a con-
siderable amount of judgment is required to determine discount 
rates, market premiums, financial forecasts, and asset lives. 

In addition, we review goodwill for impairment at the reporting 
unit level at least annually, and whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired. We have 
four reporting units within the Composite Materials segment, each 
of which are components that constitute a business for which 
discrete financial information is available and for which appropriate 
management regularly reviews the operating results. Within the 
Engineered Products segment, the reporting unit is the segment 
as it comprises only a single component. 

Commitments and Contingencies 
We are involved in litigation, investigations and claims arising 

out of the normal conduct of our business, including those relat-
ing to commercial transactions, environmental, employment and 
health and safety matters. We estimate and accrue our liabilities 
resulting from such matters based upon a variety of factors, 
including the stage of the proceeding; potential settlement value; 
assessments by internal and external counsel; and assessments 
by environmental engineers and consultants of potential envi-
ronmental liabilities and remediation costs. We believe we have 
adequately accrued for these potential liabilities; however, facts 
and circumstances may change, such as new developments, or 
a change in approach, including a change in settlement strategy 
or in an environmental remediation plan, or in our existing insur-
ance coverage, that could cause the actual liability to exceed the 
estimates, or may require adjustments to the recorded liability 
balances in the future. For further discussion, see Note 16, Com-
mitments and Contingencies, to the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of this Annual Report. 

MARKET RISKS 

As a result of our global operating and financing activities, we are 
exposed to various market risks that may affect our consolidated 
results of operations and financial position. These market risks 
include, but are not limited to, fluctuations in currency exchange 
rates, which impact the U.S. dollar value of transactions, assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and fluctuations 
in interest rates, which impact the amount of interest we must 
pay on certain debt instruments. Our primary currency exposures 
are in Europe, where we have significant business activities. To a 
lesser extent, we are also exposed to fluctuations in the prices of 
certain commodities, such as electricity, natural gas, acrylonitrile, 
aluminum, and certain chemicals. In addition, we have several 
contracts with both suppliers and customers that contain pricing 
adjustments based on the price of oil outside of a specified band.

We attempt to net individual exposures, when feasible, taking 
advantage of natural offsets. In addition, we employ or may employ 
interest rate swap agreements, commodity swap agreements, 
treasury rate lock agreements, cross-currency swap agreements 
and foreign currency forward exchange contracts for the purpose 
of hedging certain specifically identified interest rates, commodity, 
and net currency exposures. The use of these financial instru-
ments is intended to mitigate some of the risks associated with 
fluctuations in interest rates and currency exchange rates but does 
not eliminate such risks. We do not use financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

Interest Rate Risks 
A portion of our long-term debt bears interest at variable rates. 

From time to time we have entered into interest rate swap agree-
ments to change the underlying mix of variable and fixed interest 
rate debt. These interest rate swap agreements have modified the 
percentage of total debt that is exposed to changes in market 
interest rates. Assuming a 10% favorable and a 10% unfavorable 
change in the underlying weighted average interest rates of our 
variable rate debt and swap agreements, interest expense for 
2021 of $38.3 million would not be materially impacted. 

Foreign Currency Exchange Risks 
We operate thirteen manufacturing facilities in Europe, Asia and 

Africa which generated approximately 48% of our 2021 consoli-
dated net sales. Our European business activities primarily involve 
three major currencies — the U.S. dollar, the British pound ster-
ling, and the Euro. We also conduct business and sell products 
to customers throughout the world. Most of the sales in these 
countries are denominated in U.S. dollars and they have local cur-
rency expenses. Currency risk for the Asia and Africa locations is 
not considered material.

In 2021, our European subsidiaries had third-party sales of $0.6 
billion of which approximately 60% were denominated in U.S. dol-
lars, 38% were denominated in Euros and 2% were denominated 
in British pounds sterling. While we seek to reduce the exposure of 
our European subsidiaries to their sales in non-functional curren-
cies through the purchase of raw materials in the same currency 
as that of the product sale, the net contribution of these sales to 
cover the costs of the subsidiary in its functional currency will vary 
with changes in foreign exchange rates, and as a result, so will 
vary the European subsidiaries’ percentage margins and profit-
ability. For revenues denominated in the functional currency of the 
subsidiary, changes in foreign currency exchange rates increase 
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or decrease the value of these revenues in U.S. dollars, but do not 
affect the profitability of the subsidiary in its functional currency. 
The value of our investments in these countries could be impacted 
by changes in currency exchange rates over time and could 
impact our ability to profitably compete in international markets.

We attempt to net individual functional currency positions of 
our various European subsidiaries, to take advantage of natural 
offsets and reduce the need to employ foreign currency forward 
exchange contracts. We attempt to hedge some, but not neces-
sarily all, of the net exposures of our European subsidiaries result-
ing from sales they make in non-functional currencies. The benefit 
of such hedges varies with time and the foreign exchange rates at 
which the hedges are set. For example, when the Euro strength-
ened against the U.S. dollar, the benefit of new hedges placed 
was much less than the value of hedges they replaced that were 
entered into when the U.S. dollar was stronger. We seek to place 
additional foreign currency hedges when the dollar strengthens 
against the Euro or British pound. We do not seek to hedge the 
value of our European subsidiaries’ functional currency sales and 
profitability in U.S. dollars. We also enter into short-term foreign 
currency forward exchange contracts, usually with a term of ninety 
days or less, to hedge net currency exposures resulting from spe-
cifically identified transactions. Consistent with the nature of the 
economic hedge provided by such contracts, any unrealized gain 
or loss would be offset by corresponding decreases or increases, 
respectively, of the underlying transaction being hedged.

We have performed a sensitivity analysis as of December 31, 
2021 using a modeling technique that measures the changes in the 
fair values arising from a hypothetical 10% adverse movement in the 
levels of foreign currency exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar 
with all other variables held constant. The analysis covers all of our 
foreign currency hedge contracts. The sensitivity analysis indicated 
that a hypothetical 10% adverse movement in foreign currency 
exchange rates would have an approximately $3.7 million impact 
on our 2021 operating income. However, it should be noted that 
over time as the adverse movement (in our case a weaker dollar as 
compared to the Euro or the British pound sterling) continues and 
new hedges are layered in at the adverse rate, the impact would 
be more significant. For example, had we not had any hedges in 
place for 2021, a 10% adverse movement would have reduced our 
operating income by approximately $21.9 million. 

Foreign Currency Forward Exchange Contracts 
A number of our European subsidiaries are exposed to the 

impact of exchange rate volatility between the U.S. dollar and 
the subsidiaries’ functional currencies, being either the Euro or 
the British pound sterling. We entered into contracts to exchange 
U.S. dollars for Euros and British pound sterling through Decem-
ber 2023. The aggregate notional amount of these contracts 
was $316.4 million at December 31, 2021. The purpose of these 
contracts is to hedge a portion of the forecasted transactions of 
European subsidiaries under long-term sales contracts with cer-
tain customers. These contracts are expected to provide us with a 
more balanced matching of future cash receipts and expenditures 
by currency, thereby reducing our exposure to fluctuations in cur-
rency exchange rates. For the three years ended December 31, 
2021, hedge ineffectiveness was immaterial. Cash flows associ-
ated with these contracts are classified within net cash provided 
by operating activities of continuing operations. 

For further discussion, see Note 15, Derivative Financial Instru-
ments, to the accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
this Annual Report.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report contains forward-looking statements within the 

meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. 
These statements relate to analyses and other information that 
are based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts 
not yet determinable. These statements also relate to future 
prospects, developments and business strategies. These forward-
looking statements are identified by their use of terms and phrases 
such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” 
“expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” 
“should,” “seek,” “target,” “would,” “will” and similar terms and 
phrases, including references to assumptions. Such statements 
are based on current expectations, are inherently uncertain and 
are subject to changing assumptions. No assurance can be given 
that any commitment, plan, initiative, projection, goal, expectation, 
or prospect set forth in this Annual Report can or will be achieved. 
Inclusion of information in this Annual Report is not an indication 
that the subject or information is material to our business or 
operating results

Such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to: 
(a) the estimates and expectations based on aircraft production 
rates provided by Airbus, Boeing and others; (b) the revenues we 
may generate from an aircraft model or program; (c) the impact 
of the push-out in deliveries of the Airbus and Boeing backlog 
and the impact of delays in the startup or ramp-up of new aircraft 
programs or the final Hexcel composite material content once 
the design and material selection have been completed; (d) 
expectations with regard to regulatory clearances or the build rate 
of the Boeing 737 MAX or Boeing 787 and the related impact 
on our revenues; (e) expectations with regard to raw material 
cost and availability; (f) expectations of composite content 
on new commercial aircraft programs and our share of those 
requirements; (g) expectations regarding revenues from space 
and defense applications, including whether certain programs 
might be curtailed or discontinued; (h) expectations regarding 
sales for wind energy, recreation, automotive and other industrial 
applications; (i) expectations regarding working capital trends and 
expenditures and inventory levels; (j) expectations as to the level 
of capital expenditures and completion of capacity expansions 
and qualification of new products; (k) expectations regarding our 
ability to improve or maintain margins; (l) expectations regarding 
the outcome of legal matters or the impact of changes in laws or 
regulations or government policies; (m) our projections regarding 
our tax rate; (n) expectations with regard to the continued impact 
of the COVID-19 pandemic on worldwide air travel and aircraft 
programs, as well as on our customers and suppliers and, in turn, 
on our operations and financial results; (o) expectations regarding 
our strategic initiatives and other goals, including, but not limited 
to, our sustainability goals; and (p) the anticipated impact of the 
above factors and various market risks on our expectations of 
financial results for 2022 and beyond. 

Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 
results to be materially different. Such factors include, but are not 
limited to, the following: the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
(including continued disruption in global financial markets and 
supply chains, ongoing restrictions on movement and travel, 
employee absenteeism and labor shortages, the impact of any 
vaccine mandate, and reduced demand for air travel) on the 
operations, business and financial condition of Hexcel and its 
customers and suppliers; reductions in sales to any significant 
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customers, particularly Airbus or Boeing, including related to the 
timing of pending regulatory clearances for the Boeing 737 MAX 
and the Boeing 787, as well as due to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic; our ability to effectively adjust production and inventory 
levels to align with customer demand; our inability to effectively 
motivate, retain and hire necessary workforce, including potential 
employee attrition resulting from any vaccine mandate; our ability 
to successfully implement or realize our business strategies, plans, 
goals and objectives of management, including our sustainability 
goals and any restructuring or alignment activities in which we 
may engage; the impact of any government mandated COVID-19 
precautions, including mandatory vaccination; changes in 
sales mix; changes in current pricing and cost levels, including 
cost inflation; changes in aerospace delivery rates; changes in 
government defense procurement budgets; changes in military 
aerospace program technology; timely new product development 
or introduction; industry capacity; increased competition; availability 
and cost of raw materials, including the impact of supply shortages 
and inflation; supply chain disruptions; our ability to install, staff and 
qualify necessary capacity or complete capacity expansions to 
meet customer demand; cybersecurity-related risks, including the 
potential impact of breaches or intrusions; currency exchange rate 
fluctuations; changes in political, social and economic conditions, 
including, but not limited to, the effect of change in global trade 
policies; work stoppages or other labor disruptions; our ability 

to successfully complete any strategic acquisitions, investments 
or dispositions; compliance with environmental, health, safety 
and other related laws and regulations, including those related 
to climate change; the effects of natural disasters, which may 
be worsened by the impact of climate change, and other severe 
catastrophic events; the potential impact of environmental, social 
and governance matters; and the unexpected outcome of legal 
matters or impact of changes in laws or regulations. 
Although we believe that these forward-looking statements 
are based on reasonable assumptions, you should be aware 
that many factors could affect our actual results of operations 
and could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
expressed in the forward-looking statements. As a result, the 
foregoing factors should not be construed as exhaustive and 
should be read together with other cautionary statements 
included in this and other reports we file with the SEC. Such 
factors are detailed in the Forward Looking Statements and 
Risk Factors sections of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission. We do not undertake 
any obligation to update our forward-looking statements or 
risk factors to reflect future events or circumstances, except as 
otherwise required by law. 
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Hexcel Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Condensed Balance Sheets 
As of December 31,

(In millions) 2021 2020

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 	 $	 127.7 	 $	 103.3
Accounts receivable, net 160.3 125.4
Inventories 245.7 213.5
Contract assets 30.5 43.1
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 39.5 38.0
Assets held for sale 12.6 12.6
Total current assets 616.3 535.9

Property, plant and equipment 3,110.0 3,139.7
Less accumulated depreciation (1,363.9) (1,265.5)

Property, plant and equipment, net 1,746.1 1,874.2
Goodwill and other intangible assets 267.5 277.8
Investments in affiliated companies 44.6 44.7
Other assets 144.9 185.2
Total assets 	 $	 2,819.4 	 $	 2,917.8

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Short-term borrowings 	 $	 0.9 	 $	 0.9
Accounts payable 113.2 70.0
Accrued compensation and benefits 54.4 43.2
Financial instruments 5.7 3.6
Accrued liabilities 73.4 65.4
Total current liabilities 247.6 183.1

Long-term debt 822.4 925.5
Retirement obligations 52.6 53.9
Deferred income taxes 140.0 153.0
Other non-current liabilities 71.3 92.1
Total liabilities 1,333.9  1,407.6

Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 200.0 shares authorized, 110.1 shares and 109.7 shares
   issued at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively 1.1 1.1
Additional paid-in capital 878.6 849.7
Retained earnings 2,012.5 1,996.4
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (126.5) (59.6)

2,765.7 2,787.6
Less – Treasury stock, at cost, 26.1 shares at December 31, 2021 and 26.1 shares 
   at December 31, 2020 (1,280.2) (1,277.4)
Total stockholders' equity 1,485.5 1,510.2

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 	 $	 2,819.4 	 $	 2,917.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Hexcel Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 
For the Years Ended December 31,
(In millions, except per share data) 2021 2020 2019

Net sales 	 $	1,324.7 	 $	1,502.4 	 $	2,355.7
Cost of sales 1,074.6 1,262.7 1,715.3

Gross margin 250.1 239.7 640.4
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 135.0 121.1 158.7
Research and technology expenses 45.1 46.6 56.5
Other operating expense 18.2 57.9 —

Operating income 51.8 14.1 425.2
 
Interest expense, net 38.3 41.8 45.5
Other income (8.5) — —

Income (loss) before income taxes, and equity in earnings from affiliated companies 22.0 (27.7) 379.7
Income tax expense (benefit) 5.9 (61.0) 76.8

Income before equity in earnings 16.1 33.3 302.9
Equity in earnings (losses) from affiliated companies — (1.6) 3.7

Net income 	 $	 16.1 	 $	 31.7 	 $	 306.6
 
Basic net income per common share: 	 $	 0.19 	 $	 0.38 	 $	 3.61
Diluted net income per common share: 	 $	 0.19 	 $	 0.38 	 $	 3.57
 
Weighted-average common shares:

Basic 84.1 83.8 84.9
Diluted 84.6 84.0 85.8

Hexcel Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
For the Years Ended December 31,
 (In millions) 2021 2020 2019

Net Income 	 $	 16.1 	 $	 31.7 	 $	306.6
Currency translation adjustments (26.9) 54.6 (2.6)
Net unrealized pension and other benefit actuarial
   loss and prior service credits (net of tax) (21.3) (18.0) (7.0)
Net unrealized (loss) gain on financial instruments (net of tax) (18.7) 22.5 (1.1)

Total other comprehensive (loss) income (66.9) 59.1 (10.7)
Comprehensive (loss) income 	 $	 (50.8) 	 $	 90.8 	 $	295.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Hexcel Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019

Common Stock

 (In millions) Par

Additional
Paid-In
Capitall

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury
Stock

Total
Stockholders’

Equity

Balance, December 31, 2018 	$	1.1 	 $	798.3 	 $	1,726.5 	 $	 (108.0) 	 $	(1,095.9) 	 $	1,322.0
Net income — — 306.6 — — 306.6
Dividends paid on common stock ($0.64 per share) — — (54.2) — — (54.2)
Change in other comprehensive income – net of tax — — — (10.7) — (10.7)
Stock-based activity — 31.6 — — — 31.6
Acquisition of treasury stock — — — — (149.2) (149.2)
Balance, December 31, 2019 	$	1.1 	 $	829.9 	 $	1,978.9 	 $	 (118.7) 	 $	(1,245.1) 	 $	1,446.1
Net income — — 31.7 — — 31.7
Dividends paid on common stock ($0.17 per share) — — (14.2) — — (14.2)
Change in other comprehensive income – net of tax — — — 59.1 — 59.1
Stock-based activity — 19.8 — — — 19.8
Acquisition of treasury stock — — — — (32.3) (32.3)
Balance, December 31, 2020 	$	1.1 	 $	849.7 	 $	1,996.4 	 $	 (59.6) 	 $	(1,277.4) 	 $	1,510.2
Net income — — 16.1 — — 16.1
Change in other comprehensive (loss) – net of tax — — — (66.9) — (66.9)
Stock-based activity — 28.9 — — (2.8) 26.1
Balance, December 31, 2021 	$	1.1 	 $	878.6 	 $	2,012.5 	 $	(126.5) 	 $	(1,280.2) 	 $	1,485.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Hexcel Corporation and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
For the Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2021 2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income 	 $	 16.1 	 $	 31.7 	 $	306.6
Reconciliation to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 138.0 140.9 141.7
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discount 3.1 1.2 0.9
Deferred income taxes (2.6) (51.4) 16.3
Merger and restructuring expenses, net of payments (5.6) 23.0 (2.5)
Equity in earnings from affiliated companies — 1.6 (3.7)
Stock-based compensation 19.0 15.4 18.3

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (40.7) 110.0 36.5
(Increase) decrease in inventories (40.4) 129.4 (30.4)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other current assets 13.0 11.2 (5.8)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable/accrued liabilities 49.8 (134.1) 12.5
Other – net 2.0 (14.6) 0.7

Net cash provided by operating activities 151.7 264.3 491.1
Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures (27.9) (50.6) (204.1)
Acquisitions and investments in affiliated companies — — (163.2)

Net cash used for investing activities (27.9) (50.6) (367.3)
Cash flows from financing activities

Repayments of Euro term loan — (49.9) (9.0)
Borrowing from senior unsecured credit facility - 2024 — 422.0 581.0
Repayment of senior unsecured credit facility - 2024 (103.0) (507.0) (268.0)
Borrowing from senior unsecured credit facility - 2021 — — 345.0
Repayment of senior unsecured credit facility - 2021 — — (547.0)
Change in finance lease obligations (0.9) (1.0) (0.8)
Proceeds of other debt, net — 0.8 —
Issuance costs related to senior credit facility — (1.3) (2.5)
Dividends paid — (14.2) (54.2)
Repurchase of stock — (24.6) (143.0)
Activity under stock plans 7.1 (3.3) 7.1

Net cash used for financing activities (96.8) (178.5) (91.4)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2.6) 3.7 (0.7)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 24.4 38.9 31.7
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 103.3 64.4 32.7
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 127.7 	 $	103.3 	 $	 64.4

 

Supplemental data:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest, net of capitalized interest 	 $	 36.1 	 $	 41.6 	 $	 44.7

Income Taxes 	 $	 1.2 	 $	 (0.2) 	 $	 56.9

Accrual basis additions to property, plant and equipment 	 $	 41.4 	 $	 42.5 	 $	 191.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1 — SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of Operations 
Hexcel Corporation and its subsidiaries (herein referred to as 

“Hexcel”, “the Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our”), is a global leader 
in advanced lightweight composites technology. We propel the 
future of flight, energy generation, transportation, and recreation 
through excellence in providing innovative high-performance 
material solutions that are lighter, stronger and tougher, helping to 
create a better world for us all. Our broad product range includes 
carbon fiber, specialty reinforcements, prepregs and other fiber-
reinforced matrix materials, honeycomb, resins, engineered core 
and composite structures for use in commercial aerospace, space 
and defense, and industrial applications. 

We serve international markets through manufacturing facilities, 
sales offices and representatives located in the Americas, Asia 
Pacific, Europe, India, and Africa. We also have a presence in 
Malaysia where we are a partner in a joint venture which manufac-
tures composite structures for Commercial Aerospace applications.

Principles of Consolidation 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include 

the accounts of Hexcel Corporation and its subsidiaries after elimi-
nation of all intercompany accounts, transactions, and profits. At 
December 31, 2021, we had a 50% equity ownership investment 
in the joint venture described above which is accounted for using 
the equity method of accounting. 

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have 

been prepared by us pursuant to the rules and regulations of 
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and are 
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”). Our fiscal year end is December 31. Unless otherwise 
stated, all years and dates refer to our fiscal year. 

In November 2020 we closed our wind energy prepreg produc-
tion facility in Windsor, Colorado and as a result, certain plant assets 
to be sold have been recorded in “Assets held for sale” in the Con-
solidated Balance Sheets at both December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Use of Estimates 
Preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial state-

ments and related disclosures in conformity with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and all highly 

liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less 
when purchased. Our cash equivalents are held in prime money 
market investments with strong sponsor organizations which are 
monitored on a continuous basis. 

Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, 

with cost determined using the average cost methods. Inventory is 

reported at its estimated net realizable value based upon our his-
torical experience with inventory becoming obsolete due to age, 
changes in technology and other factors. Inventory cost consists 
of materials, labor, and manufacturing related overhead associ-
ated with the purchase and production of inventories.

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant, and equipment, including capitalized interest 

applicable to major project expenditures, is recorded at cost. 
Asset and accumulated depreciation accounts are eliminated 
for dispositions, with resulting gains or losses reflected in earn-
ings. Depreciation of plant and equipment is provided generally 
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 
the various assets. The estimated useful lives range from 10 to 
40 years for buildings and improvements and from 3 to 25 years 
for machinery and equipment. Repairs and maintenance are 
expensed as incurred, while major replacements and betterments 
are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful life of 
the related asset. 

Leases
The Company regularly enters into operating leases for certain 

buildings, equipment, parcels of land, and vehicles. As of Janu-
ary 1, 2019, we adopted the provisions of Accounting Standards 
Codification (“ASC”) 842, accounting for leases. Accordingly, we 
capitalize all agreements with terms for more than one year, where 
a right of use asset was identified. Generally, amounts capitalized 
represent the present value of minimum lease payments over the 
term, and the duration is equivalent to the base agreement, how-
ever, management uses certain assumptions when determining 
the value and duration of leases. These assumptions include, but 
are not limited to, the probability of renewing a lease term, certain 
future events impacting lease payments, as well as fair values not 
explicit in an agreement. Such assumptions impacted the duration 
of many of our building leases, as well as certain of our equip-
ment leases. In addition, we elected certain expedients, such as 
the election to capitalize lease and non-lease components of an 
agreement as a single component for purposes of simplicity, with 
the exception of those related to equipment and machinery.

In determining the lease renewal, management considers the 
need and ability to substitute a given asset, as well as certain 
conditions such as related contractual obligations to our custom-
ers (i.e., a contractual obligation of a customer requiring certain 
manufacturing proximities). In determining fair value, management 
considers the stand-alone value of an asset in an ordinary market 
as well as incurring certain costs to terminate an agreement. 
Most of our leases do not include variable payments but contain 
scheduled escalations. Any lease payments tied to certain future 
indexes are adjusted on a go forward basis as those indexes 
become known.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the 

fair value of the identifiable net assets of an acquired business. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level annually, 
in the fourth quarter, or when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that goodwill might be impaired. The Company performed 
a quantitative assessment using market and income approaches 
and determined that the fair values of our reporting units were not 
less than their carrying values and that no impairment exists.
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We amortize the cost of other intangibles over their estimated 
useful lives unless such lives are deemed indefinite. We have 
indefinite lived intangible assets which are not amortized but are 
tested annually for impairment during the fourth quarter of each 
year, or when events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
potential for impairment. If the carrying amount of the indefinite 
lived intangible exceeds the fair value, it is written down to its fair 
value, which is calculated using a discounted cash flow model. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
The Company reviews long-lived assets, including property, 

plant and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets, for 
impairment whenever changes in circumstances or events may 
indicate that the carrying amounts are not recoverable. These 
indicators include, but are not limited to: a significant decrease 
in the market price of a long-lived asset, a significant change in 
the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset is used or its 
physical condition, a significant adverse change in legal factors or 
business climate that could affect the value of a long-lived asset, 
an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount 
expected for the acquisition or construction of a long-lived asset, 
a current period operating or cash flow loss combined with a his-
tory of losses associated with a long-lived asset and a current 
expectation that, more likely than not, a long-lived asset will be 
sold or otherwise disposed of significantly before the end of its 
previously estimated life. 

Software Development Costs 
Costs incurred to develop software for internal use are accounted 

for under ASC 350-40, “Internal-Use Software.” All costs relating 
to the preliminary project stage and the post-implementation/
operation stage are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred during 
the application development stage are capitalized and amortized 
over the useful life of the software, which ranges from three to ten 
years. The amortization of capitalized costs commences after the 
software has been tested and is placed into operations. 

Debt Financing Costs 
Debt financing costs are deferred and amortized to interest 

expense over the life of the related debt. We capitalize financing 
fees related to our revolving credit facility and record them as a 
non-current asset in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Financing 
fees related to our bonds and notes are capitalized and recorded 
as a non-current contra liability in our Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. See Note 6, Debt, for further information on debt financing 
costs. 

Share-Based Compensation 
The fair value of Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) is equal to 

the market price of our stock at date of grant and is amortized to 
expense ratably over the vesting period. Performance restricted 
stock units (“PRSUs”) are a form of RSUs in which the number 
of shares ultimately received depends on the extent to which we 
achieve a specified performance target. The fair value of the PRSU 
is based on the closing market price of the Company’s common 
stock on the date of grant and is amortized straight-line over 
the total vesting period. A change in the performance measure 
expected to be achieved is recorded as an adjustment in the 
period in which the change occurs. We use the Black-Scholes 
model to calculate the fair value for all stock option grants, based 
on the inputs relevant on the date granted, such as the market 
value of our shares, prevailing risk-free interest rate, etc. The value 
of the portion of the award, after considering potential forfeitures, 
that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense in 

our consolidated statements of operations on a straight-line basis 
over the requisite service periods. The value of RSUs, PRSUs and 
non-qualifying options awards for retirement eligible employees is 
expensed on the grant date as they are fully vested. 

Currency Translation 
The assets and liabilities of international subsidiaries are trans-

lated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates, and revenues 
and expenses are translated at average exchange rates during 
the year. Cumulative currency translation adjustments are included 
in “accumulated other comprehensive loss” in the stockholders’ 
equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is predominately derived from a single performance 

obligation under long-term agreements with our customers and 
pricing is fixed and determinable. The majority of our revenue is 
recognized at a point in time when the customer has obtained 
control of the product. We have determined that individual pur-
chase orders (“PO”), whose terms and conditions taken with a 
master agreement, create the revenue contracts which are gener-
ally short-term in nature. For those sales which are not tied to a 
long-term agreement, we generate a PO that is subject to our 
standard terms and conditions. 

Revenue is recognized over time for customer contracts that 
contain a termination for convenience clause (“T for C”) and where 
the products produced do not have an alternative use. For rev-
enue recognized over time, we estimate the amount of revenue 
earned at a given point during the production cycle based on 
certain costs factors such as raw materials and labor incurred to 
date, plus a reasonable profit, which is known as the cost-to-cost 
input method. 

Our revenue recognition policy recognizes the following practi-
cal expedients allowed under ASC 606:

•	� Payment terms with our customers which are one year or 
less, are not considered a performance obligation.

•	� Shipping and handling fees and costs incurred in connection 
with products sold are recorded in cost of sales in our Con-
solidated Statements of Operations and are not considered a 
performance obligation to our customers. 

•	� Our performance obligations on our orders are generally sat-
isfied within one year from a given reporting date therefore we 
omit disclosure of the transaction price allocated to remaining 
performance obligations on open orders. 

Product Warranty 
We provide for an estimated amount of product warranty at the 

point a claim is probable and estimable. This estimated amount is 
provided by product and based on current facts, circumstances, 
and historical warranty experience. 

Research and Technology 
Significant costs are incurred each year in connection with 

research and technology (“R&T”) programs that are expected to 
contribute to future earnings. Such costs are related to the devel-
opment and, in certain instances, the qualification and certification 
of new and improved products and their uses. R&T costs are 
expensed as incurred. 

Income Taxes 
We provide for income taxes using the asset and liability 

approach. Under this approach, deferred income tax assets and 
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liabilities reflect tax net operating loss and credit carryforwards 
and the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and income 
tax purposes. Deferred tax assets require a valuation allowance 
when it is not more likely than not, based on the evaluation of 
positive and negative evidence, that the deferred tax assets will 
be realized. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent 
upon the timing and magnitude of future taxable income prior to 
the expiration of the deferred tax assets’ attributes. When events 
and circumstances so dictate, we evaluate the realizability of our 
deferred tax assets and the need for a valuation allowance by fore-
casting future taxable income. Investment tax credits are recorded 
on a flow-through basis, which reflects the credit in net income as 
a reduction of the provision for income taxes in the same period as 
the credit is realized for federal income tax purposes. In addition, 
we recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits 
as a component of interest expense and penalties as a compo-
nent of income tax expense in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations.

Concentration of Credit Risk 
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant 

concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of trade accounts 
receivable. Two customers and their related subcontractors 
accounted for approximately 49% of our annual net sales in 
2021, 52% in 2020 and 64% in 2019. Refer to Note 18 for further 
information on significant customers. We perform ongoing credit 
evaluations of our customers’ financial condition but generally do 
not require collateral or other security to support customer receiv-
ables. We establish an allowance for doubtful accounts based on 
factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers, historical 
trends, and other financial information. 

Derivative Financial Instruments 
We use various financial instruments, including foreign cur-

rency forward exchange contracts, commodity, and interest rate 
agreements, to manage our exposure to market fluctuations by 
generating cash flows that offset, in relation to their amount and 
timing, the cash flows of certain foreign currency denominated 
transactions or underlying debt instruments. We mark our foreign 
exchange forward contracts to fair value. When the derivatives 
qualify, we designate our foreign currency forward exchange 
contracts as cash flow hedges against forecasted foreign cur-
rency denominated transactions and report the changes in fair 
value of the instruments in “accumulated other comprehensive 
loss” until the underlying hedged transactions affect income. We 
designate our interest rate agreements as fair value or cash flow 
hedges against specific debt instruments and recognize interest 
differentials as adjustments to interest expense as the differentials 
may occur; the fair value of the interest rate swaps is recorded in 
other assets or other non-current liabilities with a corresponding 
amount to “accumulated other comprehensive loss”. We do not 
use financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. 

In accordance with accounting guidance, we recognize all 
derivatives as either assets or liabilities on our Consolidated Bal-
ance Sheets and measure those instruments at fair value. 

Self-insurance 
We are self-insured up to specific levels for certain medical and 

health insurance and workers’ compensation plans. Accruals are 
established based on actuarial assumptions and historical claim 
experience and include estimated amounts for incurred but not 
reported claims. 

New Accounting Standards 

Accounting Standards Recently Adopted 
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-14, Com-

pensation—Retirement Benefits—Defined Benefit Plans—Gen-
eral (Subtopic 715-20), which amends the current disclosure 
requirements regarding defined benefit pensions and other post 
retirement plans, and allows for the removal of certain disclosures, 
while adding certain new disclosure requirements. This standard 
was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. 
Adoption of this new standard did not have a significant impact to 
our disclosures. 

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income 
Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. 
ASU 2019-12 amends ASC 740 to simplify the accounting for 
income taxes by removing certain exceptions for investments, 
intraperiod allocations and interim calculations, and adding guid-
ance to reduce complexity in the accounting standard under the 
FASB’s simplification initiative. ASU 2019-12 was effective for pub-
lic entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. The 
Company adopted the applicable provisions of this new standard 
on a prospective and modified retrospective basis as of January 
1, 2021. Adoption of this new standard did not have a material 
impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

NOTE 2 — INVENTORIES 

December 31,
(In millions) 2021 2020

Raw materials 	 $	113.7 	 $	 94.9
Work in progress 41.0 23.6
Finished goods 91.0 95.0

Total inventory 	 $	245.7 	 $	213.5

NOTE 3 — ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

December 31,
(In millions) 2021 2020

Accounts receivable 	 $	160.9 	 $	126.2
Allowance for doubtful accounts (0.6) (0.8)

Accounts receivable, net 	 $	160.3 	 $	125.4

Bad debt expense was immaterial for all years presented.

NOTE 4 — NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

December 31,
(In millions) 2021 2020

Land 	 $	 109.2 	 $	 107.0
Buildings 671.8 686.5
Equipment 2,076.7 2,108.8
Construction in progress 246.6 231.5
Finance lease 5.7 5.9

Property, plant and equipment 3,110.0 3,139.7
Less accumulated depreciation (1,363.9) (1,265.5)

Net property, plant and equipment 	 $	 1,746.1 	 $	1,874.2

Depreciation expense related to property, plant and equipment 
for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, was 
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$131.0 million, $133.9 million and $134.7 million, respectively. 
Capitalized interest of $12.8 million, $13.4 million, and $12.7 
million for 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, was included in 

construction in progress. Capitalized costs associated with soft-
ware developed for internal use were not material for 2021, 2020 
and 2019. 

NOTE 5 — GOODWILL AND PURCHASED INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Changes in the carrying amount of gross goodwill and other purchased intangibles for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020, by segment, are as follows:

(In millions)
Composite 

Materials
Engineered

Products Total

Balance as of December 31, 2019 	 $	 96.2 	 $	 184.2 	 $	280.4
Amortization expense (1.9) (5.0) (6.9)
Currency translation adjustments and other 4.4 (0.1) 4.3

Balance as of December 31, 2020 	 $	 98.7 	 $	 179.1 	 $	277.8
Amortization expense (2.0) (5.0) (7.0)
Currency translation adjustments and other (3.3) — (3.3)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 	 $	 93.4 	 $	 174.1 	 $	267.5

We performed an annual impairment review of goodwill as of November 30, 2021 and determined that the fair values of our reporting 
units are above their carrying values and that no impairment exists. The goodwill and intangible asset balances as of December 31, 2021 
include $4.2 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets, $72.7 million of a definite-lived intangible asset (net of accumulated amortization 
of $26.9 million) and $190.5 million of goodwill. Of the $190.5 million of goodwill, $75.1 million is allocated to the Composite Materials 
segment and $115.4 million to the Engineered Products segment.

The weighted average remaining life of the finite lived intangible 
assets is 11 years. Amortization related to the definite lived 
intangible assets for the next five years and thereafter is as follows: 

(In millions)

2022 	 $	 7.0
2023 6.8
2024 6.6
2025 6.6
2026 6.6
Thereafter 39.1

Total 	 $	 72.7

NOTE 6 - DEBT 

(In millions)
December 

31, 2021
December 

31, 2020

Current portion of finance lease 	 $	 0.9 	$	 0.9
Current portion of debt 0.9 0.9
Senior unsecured credit facility 125.0 228.0
4.7% senior notes — due 2025 300.0 300.0
3.95% senior notes — due 2027 400.0 400.0
Senior notes — original issue discount (1.2) (1.5)
Senior notes — deferred financing costs (2.9) (3.5)
Non-current portion of finance leases and other 1.5 2.5

Long-term debt 822.4 925.5

Total debt 	 $	823.3 	$	 926.4

Senior Unsecured Credit Facility
In June 2019, the Company refinanced its senior unsecured 

credit facility (the “Facility”), increasing borrowing capacity from 
$700 million to $1 billion. The maturity of the Facility is June 2024. 
The refinancing provides for a reduction in interest costs, as well as 
less restrictive covenants. The Facility agreement contains finan-
cial and other covenants, including, but not limited to customary 
restrictions on the incurrence of debt by our subsidiaries and the 
granting of liens, as well as the maintenance of an interest cover-
age ratio and a leverage ratio. As defined in the Facility agreement, 
we are required to maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio of 
3.50 (based on the ratio of earnings before interest tax deprecia-
tion and amortization, “EBITDA”, to interest expense). In addition, 
the maximum leverage ratio must not exceed 3.75 (based on 
the ratio of total debt to EBITDA) with a step up to 4.25 allowed 
following certain acquisitions. The Facility agreement contains 
other customary terms and conditions such as representations 
and warranties, additional covenants and events of default. As of 
December 31, 2021, total borrowings under the Facility were $125 
million, which approximates fair value. The Facility agreement per-
mits us to issue letters of credit up to an aggregate amount of $50 
million. Outstanding letters of credit reduce the amount available 
for borrowing under the Facility. As of December 31, 2021, there 
were no issued letters of credit under the Facility, resulting in un-
drawn availability under the Facility of $625 million. The weighted 
average interest rate for the Facility was 4.2% for the year ended 
December 31, 2021. The balance of unamortized deferred financ-
ing costs related to the Facility was $1.7 million at December 31, 
2021 and $3.5 million at December 31, 2020. 

In September 2020, we amended the Facility to allow for relief 
from certain terms, including adjusting the maximum leverage ratio 
covenant for a defined period. On January 28, 2021, we further 
amended the Facility agreement (the “Second Amendment”) to 
provide that, from January 28, 2021 through and including March 
31, 2022, we will not be subject to a maximum leverage ratio cov-
enant but will instead be required to maintain Liquidity (as defined 
in the Facility agreement) of at least $250 million. Additionally, 
during such period, the Company will be subject to limitations on 
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share repurchases, cash dividends, and its ability to incur secured 
debt, in each case subject to certain exceptions; the applicable 
margin and commitment fees are increased; the incremental facil-
ity will not be available; and if the Company’s public debt rating is 
downgraded to (i) BB or lower by Standard & Poor’s and (ii) Ba2 
or lower by Moody’s, we will be required to grant liens on certain 
of our assets, which liens will be released upon the Company’s 
public debt rating being upgraded to BB+ or higher by Standard 
& Poor’s or Ba1 or higher by Moody’s. The Company’s public 
debt rating as of December 31, 2021 is BB+/Baa3. In addition, 
the Second Amendment provides that the Company will not be 
subject to an interest coverage ratio covenant until the test period 
ending December 31, 2021 and revolving commitments under 
the Facility were reduced to $750 million. In connection with the 
Second Amendment, we accelerated a portion of the deferred 
financing costs and recognized $0.9 million in interest expense 
during the first quarter of 2021. As of December 31, 2021, we 
were in compliance with all debt covenants.

3.95% Senior Notes 
In 2017, the Company issued $400 million in aggregate princi-

pal amount of 3.95% Senior Unsecured Notes due in 2027. The 
interest rate on these senior notes may be increased by 0.25% 
each time a credit rating applicable to the notes is downgraded. 
The maximum rate is 5.95%. The effective interest rate for 2021 
was 4.09% inclusive of approximately a 0.25% benefit of treasury 
locks. The fair value of the senior notes due in 2027 based on 
quoted prices utilizing Level 2 inputs (as defined in Note 19) was 
$428.6 million at December 31, 2021. The balance of unamortized 
deferred financing costs and debt discount related to the senior 
notes was $2.8 million at December 31, 2021 and $3.4 million at 
December 31, 2020.

4.7% Senior Notes
In 2015, the Company issued $300.0 million in aggregate prin-

cipal amount of 4.7% Senior Unsecured Notes due in 2025. The 
interest rate on these senior notes may be increased by 0.25% 
each time a credit rating applicable to the notes is downgraded. 
The maximum rate is 6.7% and the rate at December 31, 2021 
remained at 5.04%. The conditions and covenants related to the 
senior notes are less restrictive than those of our Facility. The 
effective interest rate for 2021 was 4.94%. The fair value of the 
senior notes based on quoted prices utilizing Level 2 inputs was 
$327.0 million at December 31, 2021. The balance for unamor-
tized deferred financing costs and debt discount related to the 
senior notes was $1.3 million at December 31, 2021 and $1.7 
million at December 31, 2020.

The conditions and covenants related to the senior notes are 
less restrictive than those of our Facility. 

Other Credit Facilities
In January 2020, we used $49.9 million to repay and terminate 

the Euro term loan. 

NOTE 7 — LEASES

At December 31, 2021, we had approximately $50.7 million of 
right of use assets recorded in non-current other assets, and $50.7 
million of related liabilities, $40.3 million of which was included in 
other non-current liabilities with the current portion of $10.4 mil-
lion included in accrued liabilities. The weighted average of the 
remaining lease terms was approximately 11 years. We discount 
the future lease payments of our leases using the prevailing rates 
extended to us by our lenders relevant to the period of inception. 
These rates are comprised of LIBOR plus a stated spread less a 
component related to collateralization. The rates are relative to the 
duration of the lease at inception and the country of origin. The 
weighted average interest rate used in calculating the fair values 
listed above was 2.61%. 

The following table lists the schedule of future undiscounted 
cash payments related to right of use assets by year: 

(In millions)

2022 	 $	10.5
2023 9.7
2024 8.5
2025 6.3
2026 6.1
Thereafter 17.5
Total lease payments 58.6

Less: Imputed interest (7.9)

Present value of lease payments 	 $	50.7

Operating lease expense recognized during the year ended De-
cember 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, was $15.3 million, $16.2 mil-
lion and $15.5 million, respectively. Expense related to operating 
leases which have a duration of a year or less were not material. 
Expenses for finance leases for the years ended December 31, 
2021, 2020 and 2019 were not material. 

(In millions) Balance Sheet Classification 2021 2019

Operating lease ROU assets Other assets 	 $	 50.7 	 $	 58.5
Operating lease current liabilities Accrued liabilities 10.4 12.0
Operating lease long-term liabilities Other non-current liabilities 40.3 46.5

Total operating lease liabilities 	 $	 50.7 	 $	 58.5
Finance lease, gross Property, plant & equipment, net 5.7 5.9
Finance lease accumulated depreciation Property, plant & equipment, net 0.4 0.5

Finance lease, net 	 $	 5.3 	 $	 5.4
Finance lease current liabilities Accrued liabilities 0.9 0.9

Finance lease long-term liabilities Long-term debt 0.4 1.3

Total finance lease liabilities 	 $	 1.3 	 $	 2.2
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NOTE 8 — RETIREMENT AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT 
BENEFIT PLANS 

We maintain qualified defined benefit retirement plans cover-
ing certain current and former European employees, as well as 
nonqualified defined benefit retirement plans, and retirement sav-
ings plans covering certain eligible U.S. and European employees 
and participate in a union sponsored multi-employer pension plan 
covering certain U.S. employees with union affiliations. In addition, 
we provide certain postretirement health care and life insurance 
benefits to eligible U.S. retirees. 

Accounting standards require the use of certain assumptions, 
such as the expected long-term rate of return, discount rate, rate 
of compensation increase, healthcare cost trend rates, and retire-
ment and mortality rates, to determine the net periodic costs of 
such plans. These assumptions are reviewed and set annually at 
the beginning of each year. In addition, these models use an “at-
tribution approach” that generally spreads individual events, such 
as plan amendments and changes in actuarial assumptions, over 
the service lives of the employees in the plan. That is, employees 
render service over their service lives on a relatively smooth basis 
and therefore, the income statement effects of retirement and 
postretirement benefit plans are earned in, and should follow, the 
same pattern. 

We use our actual return experience, future expectations of 
long-term investment returns, and our actual and targeted asset 
allocations to develop our expected rate of return assumption 
used in the net periodic cost calculations of our funded European 
defined benefit retirement plans. Due to the difficulty involved in 
predicting the market performance of certain assets, there will be 
a difference in any given year between our expected return on plan 
assets and the actual return. Following the attribution approach, 
each year’s difference is amortized over a number of future years. 
Over time, the expected long-term returns are designed to ap-
proximate the actual long-term returns and therefore result in a 
pattern of income and expense recognition that more closely 
matches the pattern of the services provided by the employees. 

We annually set our discount rate assumption for retirement-
related benefits accounting to reflect the rates available on high-
quality, fixed-income debt instruments. The rate of compensation 
increases for nonqualified pension plans, which is another signifi-
cant assumption used in the actuarial model for pension account-
ing, is determined by us based upon our long-term plans for such 
increases and assumed inflation. For the postretirement health 
care and life insurance benefits plan, we review external data and 
its historical trends for health care costs to determine the health 
care cost trend rates. Retirement and termination rates are based 
primarily on actual plan experience. The mortality table used for 
the U.S. plans is based on the Pri-2012 White Collar Healthy An-
nuitant Mortality Table with Improvement Scale MP-2020 and for 
the U.K. Plan the S3PXA base table with future improvements in 
line with the CMI 2020 projection model with a long-term trend 
rate of 1.25% p. a. 

Actual results that differ from our assumptions are accumulated 
and amortized over future periods and therefore, generally affect 
the net periodic costs and recorded obligations in such future pe-
riods. While we believe that the assumptions used are appropriate, 
significant changes in economic or other conditions, employee 
demographics, retirement and mortality rates, and investment 
performance may materially impact such costs and obligations. 

U.S. Defined Benefit Retirement Plans 
We have nonqualified defined benefit retirement plans cover-

ing certain current and former U.S. employees that are funded 
as benefits are incurred. Under the provisions of these plans, we 
expect to contribute approximately $0.7 million in 2022 to cover 
unfunded benefits. 

Multi-Employer Plan 
The Company is party to a multi-employer pension plan cov-

ering certain U.S. employees with union affiliations. The plan is 
the Western Metal Industry Pension Fund, (“the Plan”). The Plan’s 
employer identification number is 91-6033499; the Plan number is 
001. In 2021, 2020 and 2019 the Plan reported Hexcel Corpora-
tion as being an employer that contributed greater than 5% of the 
Plan’s total contributions. The collective bargaining agreement was 
renewed on November 20, 2020 retroactively to October 1, 2020 
for a five-year term. The Plan has been listed in “critical status” 
and has been operating in accordance with a Rehabilitation Plan 
since 2010. The Plan, as amended under the Rehabilitation Plan, 
reduced the adjustable benefits of the participants, and levied a 
surcharge on employer contributions. The Company contributed 
$2.1 million in 2021, $2.0 million in 2020 and $2.5 million in 2019. 
We expect the Company’s contribution to be approximately $1.9 
million in 2022 and remain at that level over the remaining term. 

U.S. Retirement Savings Plan 
Under the retirement savings plan, eligible U.S. employees can 

contribute up to 75% of their annual compensation to an indi-
vidual 401(k) retirement savings account. The Company makes 
matching contributions equal to 50% of employee contributions, 
not to exceed 3% of employee compensation each year. We also 
contribute an additional 2% to 4% of each eligible U.S. employee’s 
salary to an individual 401(k) retirement savings account. This 
increases the maximum contribution to individual U.S. employee 
savings accounts to between 5% and 7% per year before any 
profit-sharing contributions that are made when we meet or 
exceed certain performance targets that are set annually. These 
profit-sharing contributions are made at the Company’s discretion 
and are targeted at 3% of an eligible U.S. employee’s pay, with 
a maximum of 4.5%. In April 2020, the matching contributions 
were suspended as a result of the impact of COVID-19 impact, 
however, as of January 1, 2021 they were reinstated for all full-time 
employees. 

U.S. Postretirement Plans 
In addition to defined benefit and retirement savings plan ben-

efits, we also provide certain postretirement health care and life 
insurance benefits to eligible U.S. retirees. Depending upon the 
plan, benefits are available to eligible employees who retire after 
meeting certain age and service requirements and were employed 
by Hexcel as of February 1996. Our funding policy for the postre-
tirement health care and life insurance benefit plans is generally to 
pay covered expenses as they are incurred. Under the provisions 
of these plans, we expect to contribute approximately $0.3 million 
in 2022 to cover unfunded benefits. 

Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan
Under the deferred compensation plan, eligible U.S. employees 

may make tax-deferred contributions that cannot be made under 
the 401(k) Plan because of Internal Revenue Service limitations. 
We match 50% of a participant’s contributions up to 6% of the 
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participants excess compensation pay as well as provide the same 
fixed and profit-sharing contributions as provided under the 401(k) 
plan. In April 2020, the matching contributions were suspended 
as a result of the impact of COVID-19, however, as of January 1, 
2021 they have been reinstated for all full-time employees. 

We have elected to fund our deferred compensation obligation 
through a rabbi trust. The rabbi trust is subject to creditor claims 
in the event of insolvency, but the assets held in the rabbi trust 
are not available for general corporate purposes. Amounts in the 
rabbi trust are invested in a number of funds based on the funds 
available under our 401(k) plan, other than the Hexcel stock fund. 
The securities are carried at fair value and are included in other 
assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We record trading 
gains and losses in general and administrative expenses on the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations, along with the offsetting 
amount related to the increase or decrease in deferred compen-
sation to reflect our exposure to liabilities for payment under the 
deferred compensation plan.

European Defined Benefit Retirement Plans 
We have defined benefit retirement plans in the United King-

dom, Belgium, France, and Austria covering certain employees 
of our subsidiaries in those countries. The defined benefit plan in 
the United Kingdom (the “U.K. Plan”), the largest of the European 
plans, was terminated in 2011 and replaced with a defined contri-
bution plan. The total assets in the U.K. Plan were held in a variety 
of investments. Equity investments and growth fund investments 
are made with the objective of achieving a return on plan assets 
consistent with the funding requirements of the plan, maximizing 
portfolio return and minimizing the impact of market fluctuations 
on the fair value of the plan assets. In both 2021 and 2020, the 
plan bought insurance policies through the same insurer, referred 
to as a buy-in, which immunized the full amount of the liability. 
Liability driven investments are made to further reduce balance 
sheet volatility. As a result of an annual review of historical returns 
and market trends, and the insurance policy, the expected long-

term weighted average rate of return for the U.K. Plan for the 
2022 plan year will be 1.0% and 3.0% for the other European 
plans as a group. 

U.K. Defined Contribution Pension Plan 
Under the Defined Contribution Plan, eligible U.K. employees 

can belong to the Deferred Contribution Plan on a non-partici-
patory basis or can elect to contribute 3%, 5% or 7% of their 
pensionable salary. The Company will contribute 5%, 9% and 13% 
respectively. The plan also provides life insurance and disability 
insurance benefits for members. 

Retirement and Other Postretirement Plans – France 
The employees of our French subsidiaries are entitled to receive 

a lump-sum payment upon retirement subject to certain service 
conditions under the provisions of the national chemicals and 
textile workers collective bargaining agreements. The amounts at-
tributable to the French plans have been included within the total 
expense and obligation amounts noted for the European plans. 

Net Periodic Pension Expense 
Net periodic expense for our U.S. and European qualified and 

nonqualified defined benefit pension plans and our retirement 
savings plans for the three years ended December 31, 2021 is 
detailed in the table below. 

(In millions) 2021 2020 2019

Defined benefit retirement plans 	 $	 2.6 	 $	 0.1 	$	 (1.0)
Union sponsored multi-employer 

pension plan 1.8 2.0 2.5
Retirement savings plans-matching 

contributions 8.0 5.9 11.4
Retirement savings plans-profit 

sharing contributions 5.4 2.7 10.4
Net periodic expense 	 $	17.8 	 $	10.7 	$	 23.3

Defined Benefit Retirement and Postretirement Plans 
Net periodic cost of our defined benefit retirement and postretirement plans for the three years ended December 31, 2021, were:

(In millions) U.S. Plans European Plans

Defined Benefit Retirement Plans 2021 2020 2019 2021 2020 2019

Service cost 	 $	1.1 	 $	1.2 	 $	1.2 	 $	 0.9 	 $	 1.1 	 $	 1.0
Interest cost 0.2 0.5 0.6 2.2 3.5 4.5
Expected return on plan assets — — — (3.6) (6.9) (8.7)
Net amortization 0.8 0.3 0.1 1.1 0.4 0.3
Net periodic pension cost (income) 	 $	2.1 	 $	2.0 	 $	1.9 	 $	 0.6 	 $	 (1.9) 	 $	(2.9)

(In millions)

U.S. Postretirement Plans 2021 2020 2019

Interest cost 	 $	 — 	 $	0.1 	 $	 0.1
Net amortization and deferral (0.8) (1.0) (1.1)
Net periodic postretirement benefit (income) loss 	 $	(0.8) 	 $	(0.9) 	 $	(1.0)
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Defined Benefit Retirement Plans

U.S. Plans European Plans Postretirement Plans

(In millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations 
 Recognized in Other Comprehensive Loss

Net loss (gain) 	 $	 (0.7) 	 $	 1.6 	 $	29.4 	 $	20.2 	 $	(0.7) 	 $	(0.5)
Amortization of actuarial (losses) gains — — (1.3) (0.5) 0.8 1.0
Prior service cost — — — — — —
Effect of foreign exchange — — (1.2) 1.7 — —

Total recognized in other comprehensive loss, (pre-tax) 	 $	 (0.7) 	 $	 1.6 	 $	26.9 	 $	21.4 	 $	0.1 	 $	0.5

The benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets, funded status, and amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements for our 
defined benefit retirement plans and postretirement plans, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, were: 

Defined Benefit Retirement Plans

U.S. Plans European Plans Postretirement Plans

(In millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation - beginning of year 	 $	23.3 	 $	20.3 	 $	 220.9 	 $	 188.6 	 $	 2.6 	 $	3.1
Service cost 1.1 1.2 0.9 1.1 — —
Interest cost 0.2 0.5 2.2 3.5 — 0.1
Plan participants’ contributions — — — — — —
Actuarial loss (gain) — 1.9 30.6 28.7 (0.7) (0.5)
Plan amendments and acquisitions — — — — — —
Curtailments and settlements — — (3.1) (3.2) — —
Benefits and expenses paid (0.6) (0.6) (6.7) (5.7) (0.1) (0.1)
Currency translation adjustments — — (4.2) 7.9 — —

Benefit obligation - end of year 	 $	24.0 	 $	23.3 	 $	 240.6 	 $	 220.9 	 $	 1.8 	 $	2.6
 

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets - beginning of year 	 $	 — 	 $	 — 	 $	 233.8 	 $	 214.3 	 $	 — 	 $	 —
Actual return on plan assets — — 4.8 13.2 — —
Employer contributions 0.6 0.6 5.3 5.7 0.1 0.1
Plan participants’ contributions — — — — — —
Benefits and expenses paid (0.6) (0.6) (6.7) (5.8) (0.1) (0.1)
Curtailments and settlements — — (3.1) (0.9) — —
Currency translation adjustments — — (2.7) 7.3 — —

Fair value of plan assets - end of year 	 $	 — 	 $	 — 	 $	 231.4 	 $	 233.8 	 $	 — 	 $	 —
      

Amounts recognized in Consolidated Balance Sheets:
Non-current assets 	 $	 — 	 $	 — 	 $	 6.9 	 $	 31.5 	 $	 — 	 $	 —
Current liabilities 	 $	 2.7 	 $	 3.8 	 $	 0.2 	 $	 0.9 	 $	 0.3 	 $	0.4
Non-current liabilities 21.3 19.4 15.8 17.7 1.5 2.2

Total liabilities (a) 	 $	24.0 	 $	23.2 	 $	 16.0 	 $	 18.6 	 $	 1.8 	 $	2.6
Amounts recognized in Accumulated Other       
 Comprehensive Loss:

Actuarial net (loss) gain 	 $	 (3.9) 	 $	 (4.5) 	 $	 (77.0) 	 $	 (50.1) 	 $	 1.5 	 $	1.6
Prior service cost — — (1.3) (1.4) — —
Total amounts recognized in accumulated other  

comprehensive loss 	 $	 (3.9) 	 $	 (4.5) 	 $	 (78.3) 	 $	 (51.5) 	 $	 1.5 	 $	1.6

(a) The current and non-current portions of the accrued benefit costs for the defined benefit retirement plans and postretirement benefit plans are included within “accrued compen-
sation and benefits” and “retirement obligations”, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Benefit payments for the plans are expected to be as follows:

(In millions) U.S. Plans
European 

 Plans
Postretirement 

Plans

2022 	 $	 2.7 	 $	 5.8 	 $	 0.3
2023 2.8 6.0 0.3
2024 13.2 7.7 0.3
2025 0.7 7.2 0.2
2026 0.6 8.2 0.2
2027-2031 2.1 42.1 0.5

	 $	 22.1 	 $	 77.0 	 $	 1.8

Fair Values of Pension Assets 
The following table presents pension assets measured at fair value at December 31, 2021 and 2020 utilizing the fair value hierarchy 

discussed in Note 19: 

(In millions) December 31, Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2021

Description 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Equity funds 	 $	 — 	 $	 — 	 $	 — 	 $	 —
Diversified growth funds — — — —
Fixed income gilts — — — —
Insurance contracts 218.0 — — 218.0
Liability driven investments — — — —
Index linked gilts 1.2 — 1.2 —
Diversified investment funds 10.2 — 7.9 2.3
Cash and cash equivalents 2.0 2.0 — —

Total assets 	 $	 231.4 	 $	 2.0 	 $	 9.1 	 $	220.3

December 31, Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2020

Description 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Equity funds 	 $	 17.2 	 $	 — 	 $	 17.2 	 $	 —
Diversified growth funds 69.0 — 69.0 —
Fixed income gilts — — — —
Insurance contracts 94.9 — — 94.9
Liability driven investments 48.0 — 48.0 —
Index linked gilts — — — —
Diversified investment funds 2.5 — — 2.5
Cash and cash equivalents 2.2 2.2 — —

Total assets 	 $	 233.8 	 $	 2.2 	 $	 134.2 	 $	 97.4

The measurement date used to determine the benefit obligations 
and plan assets of the defined benefit retirement and postretirement 
plans was December 31, 2021. All costs related to our pensions are 
included as a component of operating income in our Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. For the years ended December 31, 
2021, 2020 and 2019 amounts unrelated to service costs were 
a benefit of $0.1 million, $3.1 million and $4.2 million, respectively.

The total accumulated benefit obligation (“ABO”) for the U.S. 
defined benefit retirement plans was $23.6 million and $23.3 million 

as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Excluding the 
U.K. Plan, the European plans’ ABO exceeded plan assets as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 by $16.1 million and $18.6 million, 
respectively. These plans’ ABO was $20.7 million and $26.1 million 
as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The U.K. Plan is 
overfunded; the ABO of this plan was $219.9 million and $194.7 
million at December 31, 2021 and 2020 respectively. The fair value 
of the U.K. Plan assets was $226.8 million and $226.3 million at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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The U.K. Plan invests funds which are not exchange listed and are, therefore, classified as Level 3. 

Balance at
January 1,

2021

Actual
return on

plan assets

Purchases,
sales and

settlements

Changes due
to exchange

rates

Balance at
December 31,

2021
(In millions)  
Reconciliation of Level 3 Assets

Diversified investment funds 	 $	 2.5 	 $	 0.1 	 $	 (0.2) 	 $	 (0.1) 	 $	 2.3
Insurance contracts 94.9 (12.7) 139.1 (3.3) 218.0

Total level 3 assets 	 $	97.4 	 $	 (12.6) 	 $	138.9 	 $	 (3.4) 	 $	220.3

Balance at
January 1,

2020

Actual
return on

plan assets

Purchases,
sales and

settlements

Changes due
to exchange

rates

Balance at
December 31,

2020
 
Reconciliation of Level 3 Assets

Diversified investment funds 	 $	 2.4 	 $	 0.1 	 $	 (0.2) 	 $	 0.2 	 $	 2.5
Insurance contracts 4.4 0.2 88.4 1.9 94.9

Total level 3 assets 	 $	 6.8 	 $	 0.3 	 $	88.2 	 $	 2.1 	 $	97.4

Plan assets are invested in a number of units linked pooled 
funds by an independent asset management group. Equity funds 
are split 30/70 between U.K. and overseas equity funds (North 
America, Japan, Asia Pacific and Emerging Markets). The asset 
management firm uses quoted prices in active markets to value 
the assets. 

Diversified growth funds are invested in a broad spectrum of 
asset classes with reduced dependency on any particular asset 
class. This approach targets growth asset returns with lower risk 
resulting from the diversification across different asset classes.

The fixed income gilts provide investment in low risk, fixed 
coupon bonds to reduce the volatility of return on the investments.

The insurance contracts in the U.K. provides guaranteed 
income equal to the benefit payments for the membership 
underwritten by the policy. This provides protection against 
interest rate movements, inflation, market fluctuations as well as 
member longevity. 

Insurance contracts outside of the U.K. contain a minimum 
guaranteed return. The insurance contracts are Level 3 investments 
and are valued using unobservable inputs that are based on the 
best information available. The fair value of the assets is equal 
to the total amount of all individual technical reserves plus the 
non-allocated employer’s financing fund reserves at the valuation 
date. The individual technical and financing fund reserves are 
equal to the accumulated paid contributions taking into account 
the insurance tarification and any allocated profit-sharing return. 

The liability driven investments’ allocation aims to hedge 
against the exposure to interest rate risk through the use of 
interest rate swaps.

The index-linked gilt allocation provides a partial interest rate 
and inflation rate hedge against the valuation of the liabilities.

The diversified investment funds represent plan assets invested 
in a Pensionskasse (an Austrian multi-employer pension fund). 
The main holdings consist of equity, bonds, real estate and bank 
deposits.

The actual allocations for the pension assets at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and target allocations by asset class, are as follows: 

Percentage
of Plan Assets

Target
Allocations

Percentage
of Plan Assets

Target
Allocations

Asset Class 2021 2021 2020 2020

Diversified growth funds 3.4% 3.4% 29.5% 27.1%
Index linked gilts 0.6 0.6 — —
Fixed interest gilts — — — —
Liability driven investments — — 20.5 23.9
All other regions equity fund — — 5.1 5.1
U.K. equity fund — — 2.2 2.2
Diversified investment funds 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.1
Insurance contracts 94.2 94.2 40.6 40.6
Cash and cash equivalents 0.8 0.8 1.0 —
Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

Assumptions 
The assumed discount rate for pension plans reflects the 

market rates for high-quality fixed income debt instruments cur-
rently available. A third party provided standard yield curve was 
used for the U.S. non-qualified and postretirement plans. For 
the U.K. Plan, cash flows were not available and therefore we 
considered the derived yield to market on a representative bond 

of suitable duration taken from the third-party provider’s syn-
thetic bond yield curve. We believe that the timing and amount 
of cash flows related to these instruments is expected to match 
the estimated defined benefit payment streams of our plans. 
The assumed discount rate for the U.S. non-qualified plans uses 
individual discount rates for each plan based on their associated 
cash flows. 
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2021 2020 2019

U.S. defined benefit retirement plans:    
Discount rates 1.0% - 2.4% 0.4% - 1.8% 2.1% - 2.8%
Rate of increase in compensation 3% 3% 3%

European defined benefit retirement plans:
Discount rates 0.3% - 0.95% 0.00% - 1.45% 0.35% - 2.05%
Rates of increase in compensation 3.0% 2.75% - 3.0% 2.75% - 3.0%
Expected long-term rates of return on plan assets 0.95% – 3.0% 1.45% – 3.0% 2.0% – 3.2%

Postretirement benefit plans:
Discount rates 1.3% 1.3% 2.5%

The following table presents the impact that a one-percentage-point increase and a one-percentage-point decrease in the expected 
long-term rate of return and discount rate would have on the 2021 pension expense, and the impact on our retirement obligation as of 
December 31, 2021 for a one-percentage-point change in the discount rate: 

(In millions)
U.S. Non-Qualified

Pension Plans
U S Retiree

Medical Plans
U.K.

Retirement Plan

Periodic pension expense
One-percentage-point increase:

Expected long-term rate of return  N/A N/A 	 $	 (1.4)
Discount rate 	 $	 — 	 $	 — 	 $	 (0.3)

One-percentage-point decrease:
Expected long-term rate of return 	 $	 N/A N/A 	 $	 1.4
Discount rate 	 $	 0.2 	 $	 — 	 $	 0.2

Retirement obligation
One-percentage-point increase in discount rate 	 $	 (0.6) 	 $	 (0.1) (41.7)
One-percentage-point decrease in discount rate 	 $	 0.7 	 $	 0.1 	 $	 54.4

The annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits is assumed to be 6.75% for medical rates and are 
assumed to gradually decline to 4.75% by 2029. 

Salary increase assumptions are based on historical expe-
rience and anticipated future management actions. For the 
postretirement health care and life insurance benefit plans, we 
review external data and our historical trends for health care 
costs to determine the health care cost trend rates. Retirement 
rates are based primarily on actual plan experience and on rates 
from previously mentioned mortality tables. Actual results that 
differ from our assumptions are accumulated and amortized 
over future periods and therefore, generally affect the net pe-

riodic costs and recorded obligations in such future periods. 
While we believe that the assumptions used are appropriate, 
significant changes in economic or other conditions, employee 
demographics, retirement and mortality rates, and investment 
performance may materially impact such costs and obligations. 

Assumptions used to estimate the actuarial present value 
of benefit obligations at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 
are shown in the following table. These year-end values are the 
basis for determining net periodic costs for the following year.
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NOTE 9 — INCOME TAXES 

Income before income taxes and the provision for income taxes, for the three years ended December 31, 2021, were as follows:

(In millions) 2021 2020 2019

Income before income taxes:

U.S. 	 $	 21.7 	 $	 0.8 	 $	 284.1
International 0.3 (28.5) 95.6

Total income (loss) before income taxes 	 $	 22.0 	 $	 (27.7) 	 $	 379.7

Income tax expense (benefit):
Current:

U.S. 	 $	 5.4 	 $	 (11.3) 	 $	 49.1
International 3.1 1.7 11.8

Current income tax expense (benefit) 8.5 (9.6) 60.9
Deferred:

U.S. (2.3) 0.1 3.8
International (0.3) (51.5) 12.1

Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (2.6) (51.4) 15.9
Total income tax expense (benefit) 	 $	 5.9 	 $	 (61.0) 	 $	 76.8

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 21.0% to the effective income tax rate, 
for the year ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(In millions) 2021 2020 2019

Provision (benefit) for taxes at U.S. federal statutory rate 	 $	 4.6 	 $	 (5.8) 	 $	 79.7
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit (0.1) (4.2) 3.6
Foreign effective rate differential 0.7 (1.9) 5.1
Tax credits (3.5) (3.0) (8.8)
Change in valuation allowance 0.7 (39.5) (1.9)
Remeasurement of deferred taxes 1.4 3.5 0.4
Excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation (0.2) (0.9) (4.9)
Other 2.6 (4.3) 1.0
(Decrease) increase in reserves for uncertain tax positions (0.3) (4.9) 1.2
Global intangible low taxed income — — 1.4
Total income tax expense (benefit) 	 $	 5.9 	 $	 (61.0) 	 $	 76.8

We do not provide for additional income or withholding taxes 
for any undistributed foreign earnings as we do not currently have 
any specific plans to repatriate funds from our international sub-
sidiaries; however, we may do so in the future if a dividend can be 
remitted with no material tax impact. As of December 31, 2021, 

we have approximately $800.5 million of unremitted foreign earn-
ings that we intend to keep indefinitely reinvested. Additionally, 
due to withholding tax, basis computations and other tax related 
considerations, it is not practicable to estimate any taxes to be 
provided on outside basis differences at this time.
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Deferred Income Taxes 
Deferred income taxes result from tax attributes including foreign tax credits, net operating loss carryforwards and temporary differences 

between the recognition of items for income tax purposes and financial reporting purposes. Principal components of deferred income 
taxes as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are: 

(In millions) 2021 2020

Assets
Net operating loss carryforwards 	 $	 93.5 	 $	 96.5
Capital loss carryforward 1.6 1.6
ASC 606 - revenue from contracts with customers 5.7 8.4
Tax credit carryforwards 10.3 9.9
Stock-based compensation 7.8 7.6
Other comprehensive income 21.1 6.1
Inventory reserves 11.5 9.6
Right of use liability 12.2 14.4
Reserves and other 8.3 5.2
Subtotal 172.0 159.3
Valuation allowance (7.6) (6.9)

Total assets 	 $	 164.4 	 $	 152.4
Liabilities
Accelerated depreciation (188.8) (194.5)
Accelerated amortization (17.3) (14.8)
Right of use asset (12.2) (14.4)
Other (17.0) (8.8)

Total liabilities 	 $	 (235.3) 	 $	 (232.5)
Net deferred tax liabilities 	 $	 (70.9) 	 $	 (80.1)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as presented 
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021 
and 2020 are as follows and are recorded in other assets and 
deferred income taxes in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

(In millions) 2021 2020

Long-term deferred tax assets, net 	 $	 69.1 	 $	 72.9
Long-term deferred tax liability, net (140.0) (153.0)

Net deferred tax liabilities 	 $	 (70.9) 	 $	 (80.1)

The deferred tax assets for the respective periods were as-
sessed for recoverability and, where applicable, a valuation allow-
ance was recorded to reduce the total deferred tax asset to an 
amount that will, more likely than not, be realized in the future. The 
valuation allowance as of December 31, 2021 relates to certain 
U.S. tax attributes for which we have determined, based upon 
historical results and projected future book and taxable income 
levels, that a valuation allowance should continue to be main-
tained. The valuation allowance increased by $0.7 million in the 
2021 primarily based on the current year movement of U.S. and 
foreign tax attributes. The valuation allowance as of December 
31, 2020 related primarily to certain U.S. tax attributes for which 
we have determined, based upon historical results and projected 
future book and taxable income levels, that a valuation allowance 
should continue to be maintained. The net change in the total 
valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 

2020, was an increase of $0.7 million and a decrease of $37.8 
million, respectively. 

Although realization is not assured, we have concluded that it 
is more-likely-than-not that the deferred tax assets, for which a 
valuation allowance was determined to be unnecessary, will be 
realized in the ordinary course of operations based on the available 
positive and negative evidence, including scheduling of deferred 
tax liabilities and projected income from operating activities. The 
amount of the net deferred tax assets considered realizable, how-
ever, could be reduced in the near term if actual future income or 
income tax rates are lower than estimated, or if there are differ-
ences in the timing or amount of future reversals of existing taxable 
or deductible temporary differences.

Net Operating Loss & Tax Credit Carryforwards 
At December 31, 2021, we had tax credit carryforwards for 

U.S. and foreign tax purposes of $10.3 million available to offset 
future income taxes. These credits will begin to expire if not uti-
lized in 2022. We also had net operating loss carryforwards for 
U.S. state and foreign income tax purposes of $16.2 million and 
$364.2 million, respectively, for which there were foreign valuation 
allowances of $3.4 million as of December 31, 2021. Our foreign 
net operating losses can be carried forward without limitation in 
Belgium, France, Luxembourg, and the U.K. We have a partial 
valuation allowance against certain foreign net operating losses for 
which the Company believes it is not more likely than not that the 
net operating losses will be utilized. 
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Uncertain Tax Positions 
Our unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2021, relate to various foreign and U.S. jurisdictions. The following table summarizes 

the activity related to our unrecognized tax benefits. 

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

(In millions) 2021 2020 2019

Balance as of January 1, 	 $	 10.5 	 $	 18.1 	 $	 7.5
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 0.2 0.3 11.0
(Reductions) additions for tax positions of prior years — (7.9) (0.1)
Expiration of the statute of limitations for the assessment of taxes (1.0) — (0.3)
Balance as of December 31, 	 $	 9.7 	 $	 10.5 	 $	 18.1

We had unrecognized tax benefits of $9.7 million at December 
31, 2021, of which $3.0 million, if recognized, would impact our 
annual effective tax rate. In addition, we recognize interest accrued 
related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of interest 
expense and penalties as a component of income tax expense in 
the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company did not 
recognize any interest expense or penalties related to the above 
unrecognized tax benefits in 2021 and 2020. During 2020 we re-
versed $0.2 million of accrued interest related to unrecognized tax 
benefits. The Company had no accrued interest as of December 
31, 2021 and December 31, 2020. 

We are subject to taxation in the U.S. and various states and 
foreign jurisdictions. The U.S. Federal tax returns have been 
audited through 2016. Foreign and U.S. state jurisdictions have 
statutes of limitations generally ranging from 3 to 5 years. Years in 
major jurisdictions that remain open to examination are the U.S. 
(2018 onward for Federal purposes and 2017 onward for state 
purposes), Austria (2019 onward), Belgium (2014 onward), France 
(2019 onward), Spain (2013 onward) and the U.K. (2019 onward). 
We are currently under examination in the U.S. and certain foreign 
tax jurisdictions. 

As of December 31, 2021, we had uncertain tax positions for 
which it is reasonably possible that amounts of unrecognized 
tax benefits could significantly change over the next year. These 
uncertain tax positions relate to our tax returns from 2013 onward, 
some of which are currently under examination by certain U.S. 
and European tax authorities. We believe it is reasonably possible 
that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits disclosed as of 
December 31, 2021 may decrease by approximately $7.0 to $8.0 
million in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. Such possible 
decrease primarily relates to the expiration of statutes of limitation.

NOTE 10 — CAPITAL STOCK 

Common Stock Outstanding 
Common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2021, 2020 

and 2019 was as follows: 

(Number of shares in millions) 2021 2020 2019

Common stock:
Balance, beginning of year 109.7 109.3 108.5
Activity under stock plans 0.4 0.4 0.8

Balance, end of year 110.1 109.7 109.3
Treasury stock:

Balance, beginning of year 26.1 25.7 23.7
Repurchased — 0.4 2.0

Balance, end of year 26.1 26.1 25.7
Common stock outstanding 84.0 83.6 83.6

In May 2018, our Board authorized the repurchase of $500 mil-
lion of In May 2018, our Board authorized the repurchase of $500 
million of the Company’s stock (the “2018 Repurchase Plan”). Dur-
ing 2020 and 2019, the Company spent $24.6 million and $143.0 
million to repurchase common stock, respectively. In response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, in April 2020, we announced that we 
had suspended our dividend payments and stock repurchases. On 
January 27, 2022, the Company announced it was reinstating the 
dividend commencing with the first quarter of 2022. At December 
31, 2021, we had $217.2 million remaining under the 2018 Repur-
chase Plan. 

Dividends per share of common stock for 2020 and 2019 were 
$0.17 and $0.64 respectively. For the years ended December 31, 
2020 and 2019, we paid $14.2 million and $54.2 million in divi-
dends, respectively. 

Expired Rights Plan
On April 6, 2020, the Company declared a dividend of one pre-

ferred share purchase right (a “right”) for each outstanding share of 
the Company’s common stock and adopted a stockholder rights 
plan, which expired on April 6, 2021. If the rights had become 
exercisable, each right would have allowed its holder to purchase 
from the Company one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior 
Participating Preferred Stock for $150.00, which would have given 
the stockholder approximately the same dividend, voting and liqui-
dation rights as would one share of common stock. 
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NOTE 11 — REVENUE 

Our revenue is primarily derived from the sale of inventory un-
der long-term contracts with our customers. The majority of our 
revenue is recognized at a point in time. In instances where our 
customers acquire our goods related to government contracts, 
the contracts are typically subject to terms similar, or equal to, 
the Federal Acquisition Regulation Part 52.249-2, which contains 
a termination for convenience clause (“T for C”) that requires the 
customer to pay for the cost of both the finished and unfinished 
goods at the time of cancellation plus a reasonable profit.

We recognize revenue over time for those contracts that have 
a T for C clause and where the products being produced have no 
alternative use. As our production cycle is typically nine months or 
less, it is expected that goods related to the revenue recognized 
over time will be shipped and billed within the next twelve months. 

We disaggregate our revenue based on market for analytical 
purposes. The following table details our revenue by market for the 
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

(In millions) 2021 2020 2019

Consolidated Net Sales 	 $	1,324.7	 $	1,502.4	 $	2,355.7
Commercial Aerospace 668.2 822.3 1,597.7

Space & Defense 434.9 448.5 444.7
Industrial 	 $	 221.6	 $	 231.6	 $	 313.3

Revenue recognized over time gives rise to contract assets, 
which represent revenue recognized but unbilled. Contract assets 
are included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as a component 
of current assets. The activity related to contract assets is as  
follows:

(In millions)
Composite

Materials
Engineered

Products Total

Opening adjustment -  
 January 1, 2019 	 $	12.9 	 $	37.6 	 $	50.5
Net revenue billed (0.1) 2.3 2.2
Balance at December 31, 2019 	 $	12.8 	 $	39.9 	 $	52.7
Net revenue billed (5.0) (4.6) (9.6)
Balance at December 31, 2020 	 $	 7.8 	 $	35.3 	 $	43.1
Net revenue billed (1.0) (11.6) (12.6)
Balance at December 31, 2021 	 $	 6.8 	 $	23.7 	 $	30.5

Contract assets as of December 31, 2021, will be billed and 
reclassified to accounts receivable during 2022. Accounts receiv-
able, net, includes amounts billed to customers where the right to 
payment is unconditional. 

NOTE 12 — RESTRUCTURING 

We recognized restructuring charges of $18.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily related to severance and asset 
impairments. Restructuring charges are recorded in Other Operating Expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Anticipated 
future cash payments as of December 31, 2021 were $9.0 million. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we had restructuring charges 
of $42.8 million of which $10.1 million related to asset impairments as part of the planned closure of our Windsor, Colorado plant and the 
remainder was for severance costs related to additional job reductions. There were no restructuring charges in 2019. 

(In millions)
Deember 31, 

2020
Restructuring 

Charge FX Impact Cash Paid Non-Cash
December 31, 

2021

Employee termination 	 $	 14.2 	 $	 11.8 	 $	 (1.0) 	 $	 (16.0) 	 $	 — 	 $	 9.0
Impairment and other — 7.0 — (4.3) (2.7) —
Total 	 $	 14.2 	 $	 18.8 	 $	 (1.0) 	 $	 (20.3) 	 $	 (2.7) 	 $	 9.0

(In millions)
Deember 31, 

2019
Restructuring 

Charge FX Impact Cash Paid Non-Cash
December 31, 

2020

Employee termination 	 $	 1.6 	 $	 32.3 	 $	 0.1 	 $	 (20.6) 	 $	 0.8 	 $	 14.2
Impairment and other — 10.5 — (1.0) (9.5) —
Total 	 $	 1.6 	 $	 42.8 	 $	 0.1 	 $	 (21.6) 	 $	 (8.7) 	 $	 14.2

NOTE 13 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

The following table details the stock-based compensation expense by type of award for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 
and 2019:

(In millions) 2021 2020 2019

Non-qualified stock options 	 $	 7.3 	 $	 6.8 	 $	 4.5
Restricted stock, service based (“RSUs”) 7.7 8.4 6.4
Restricted stock, performance based (“PRSUs”) 3.6 (0.7) 6.2
Employee stock purchase plan 0.3 0.2 0.6

Stock-based compensation expense 	 $	 18.9 	 $	 14.7 	 $	 17.7
Tax benefit from stock exercised and converted during the period 	 $	 2.5 	 $	 4.5 	 $	 9.1



49

Non-Qualified Stock Options 
Non-qualified stock options (“NQOs”) have been granted to our employees and directors under our stock compensation plan. Options 

granted generally vest over three years and expire ten years from the date of grant. 
A summary of option activity under the plan for the three years ended December 31, 2021 is as follows: 

Number of
Options

(In millions)

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price

 
Remaining 

Contractual Life 
(in years)

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 1.5 	 $	 38.97 5.20
Options granted 0.2 	 $	 65.56 —
Options exercised (0.4) 	 $	 25.95 —

Outstanding at December 31, 2019 1.3 	 $	 47.92 5.60
Options granted 0.5 	 $	 54.82 —
Options exercised (0.2) 	 $	 32.18 —

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 1.6 	 $	 51.07 6.04
Options granted 0.4 	 $	 44.90 —
Options exercised (0.3) 	 $	 38.03 —

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 1.7 	 $	 51.28 6.31

Year Ended December 31,

(In millions, except weighted average exercise price) 2021 2020

Aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding options 	 $	 10.6	 $	 8.3
Aggregate intrinsic value of exercisable options 	 $	 5.9	 $	 5.7
Total intrinsic value of options exercised 	 $	 4.5	 $	 2.5
Total number of options exercisable 	 $	 1.0	 $	 0.9
Weighted average exercise price of options exercisable 	 $	 51.56	 $	 46.29
Total unrecognized compensation cost on non-vested options (a) 	 $	 2.7	 $	 3.8

(a)		 Unrecognized compensation cost relates to non-vested stock options and is expected to be recognized over the remaining vesting period ranging from one year to three years.

Valuation Assumptions in Estimating Fair Value 

We estimated the fair value of stock options at the grant date using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assump-
tions for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

2021 2020 2019

Risk-free interest rate 0.58% 0.85% 2.61%
Expected option life (in years) 5.99 5.96 5.99
Dividend yield 1.5% 1.1% 0.8%
Volatility 49.65% 44.35% 35.05%
Weighted-average fair value per 

option granted
	$	18.12 	 $	19.50 	$	22.90

The weighted-average expected life is derived from the 
average midpoint between the vesting and the contractual term 
and considers the effect of both the inclusion and exclusion of 
post-vesting cancellations during the ten-year period. Expected 
volatility is calculated based on a blend of both historic volatility 
of our common stock and implied volatility of our traded options. 

We weigh both volatility inputs equally and utilize the average as 
the volatility input for the Black-Scholes calculation. The risk-free 
interest rate for the expected term is based on the U.S. Treasury 
yield curve in effect at the time of grant and corresponding to the 
expected term.

Restricted Stock Units — Service Based 
As of December 31, 2021, a total of 504,550 shares of service 

based restricted stock units were outstanding, which vest based 
on years of service under the 2003 and 2013 incentive stock plans. 
RSUs are granted to key employees, executives, and directors of 
the Company. The fair value of the RSU is based on the closing 
market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant 
and is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 
period. The stock-based compensation expense recognized is 
based on an estimate of shares ultimately expected to vest, and 
therefore it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. The total 
compensation expense related to awards granted to retirement-
eligible employees is recognized on the grant date. 
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The table presented below provides a summary of the Company’s 
RSU activity for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020  
and 2019: 

RSUs
Number of

(In millions)

Weighted-
Average

Fair Value
Grant Date

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 0.5 	 $	41.65
RSUs granted 0.1 	 $	68.85
RSUs issued (0.2) 	 $	44.75

Outstanding at December 31, 2019 0.4 	 $	48.06
RSUs granted 0.2 	 $	51.51
RSUs issued (0.1) 	 $	51.82

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 0.5 	 $	47.98
RSUs granted 0.1 	 $	47.20
RSUs issued (0.1) 	 $	48.61

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 0.5 	 $	47.46

As of December 31, 2021, there was total unrecognized com-
pensation cost related to non-vested RSUs of $6.9 million, which 
is to be recognized over the remaining vesting period ranging from 
one year to three years. 

Restricted Stock Units — Performance Based
As of December 31, 2021, a total of 398,088 shares of perfor-

mance based restricted stock units were outstanding under the 
2003 and 2013 incentive stock plans. The total amount of PRSUs 
that will ultimately vest is based on the achievement of various 
financial performance targets set forth by the Company’s Com-
pensation Committee on the date of grant. PRSUs are based on 
a three-year performance period. The stock-based compensation 
expense related to awards granted to retirement-eligible employ-
ees is expensed on the grant date and is trued up as projections 
change. The fair value of the PRSU is based on the closing market 
price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant and is 
amortized straight-line over the total three year period. A change in 
the performance measure expected to be achieved is recorded as 
an adjustment in the period in which the change occurs. 

The table presented below provides a summary, of the Com-
pany’s PRSU activity, at original grant amounts, for the years 
ended December 31,2021, 2020 and 2019: 

Number of
PRSUs

(In millions)

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 0.3 	 $	 51.75
PRSUs granted 0.1 	 $	 65.56
PRSUs issued (0.1) 	 $	 41.71

Outstanding at December 31, 2019 0.3 	 $	 60.48
PRSUs granted 0.1 	 $	 74.74
PRSUs issued (0.1) 	 $	 50.50

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 0.3 	 $	 68.77
PRSUs granted 0.1 	 $	 44.90
PRSUs issued — 	 $	 50.50

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 0.4 	 $	 57.19

As of December 31, 2021, there was total unrecognized com-
pensation cost related to non-vested PRSUs of $2.0 million, which 
is to be recognized over the remaining vesting period ranging from 
one year to three years. The final amount of compensation cost to 
be recognized is dependent upon our financial performance. 

Stock-Based Compensation Cash Activity 
During 2021, 2020 and 2019 cash received from stock option 

exercises was $7.7 million, $3.3 million and $10.7 million, respec-
tively. We used $1.8 million, $7.7 million and $6.2 million in cash 
related to the shares withheld to satisfy employee tax obligations 
for RSUs and PRSUs converted during the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

We classify the cash flows resulting from these tax benefits as 
financing cash flows. We either issue new shares of our common 
stock or utilize treasury shares upon the exercise of stock options 
or the conversion of stock units. 

Shares Authorized for Grant 
In January 2019, the Compensation Committee of the Board of 

Directors of Hexcel Corporation adopted, and stockholders sub-
sequently approved in May 2019, an amendment to the Hexcel 
Corporation 2013 Incentive Stock Plan (the “Plan”) that increased 
the number of shares of the Company’s common stock authorized 
for issuance under the Plan by 3,300,000 shares. As of December 
31, 2021, an aggregate of 3.0 million shares were authorized for 
future grant under our stock plan, which covers stock options, 
RSUs, PRSUs and at the discretion of Hexcel, could result in the 
issuance of other types of stock-based awards. 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) 
The Company offered an ESPP, which allowed for eligible em-

ployees to contribute up to 10% of their base earnings, to a maxi-
mum of $25,000 in a calendar year, toward the quarterly purchase 
of our common stock at a purchase price equal to 85% of the 
fair market value of the common stock. There were 28,620 and 
35,000 ESPP shares purchased in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
The ESPP was suspended in April 2020 in response to the COVID 
pandemic, but was subsequently reinstated commencing with the 
third quarter of 2021. 
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NOTE 14 — NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE 

Computations of basic and diluted net income per common share for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, are as follows: 

(In millions, except per share data) 2021 2020 2019

Basic net income per common share:
Net income 	 $	 16.1	 $	 31.7	 $	 306.6
Weighted average common shares outstanding 84.1 83.8 84.9

Basic net income per common share 	 $	 0.19	 $	 0.38	 $	 3.61
 
Diluted net income per common share:
Weighted average common shares outstanding — Basic 84.1 83.8 84.9
Plus incremental shares from assumed conversions:

Restricted stock units 0.3 0.1 0.3
Stock options 0.2 0.1 0.6

Weighted average common shares outstanding — Dilutive 84.6 84.0 85.8

Dilutive net income per common share 	 $	 0.19	 $	 0.38	 $	 3.57
 
Anti-dilutive shares outstanding, excluded from computation 0.6 0.9 0.1

NOTE 15 — DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Interest Rate Swap Agreements 
At both December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had no interest rate 

swap agreements outstanding.
The Company had treasury lock agreements to protect against 

unfavorable movements in the benchmark treasury rate related to 
the issuance of our senior unsecured notes. These hedges were 
designated as cash flow hedges for hedge accounting purposes 
thus any change in fair value was recorded as a component of 
other comprehensive (loss) income. As part of the issuance of 
our senior notes, we net settled these derivatives for $10 million 
in cash. As a result of settling these derivatives the previously 
deferred gains recorded in other comprehensive (loss) income will 
be released to interest expense over the life of the senior notes. 
The effect of these settled treasury locks will reduce the effective 
interest rate on the senior notes by approximately 0.25%.

Cross Currency and Interest Rate Swap Agreements
In November 2020 we entered into a cross currency and inter-

est rate swap which is designated as a cash flow hedge of a €270 
million, 5-year amortizing, intercompany loan between one of our 
European subsidiaries and the U.S. parent company. Changes in 
the spot exchange are recorded to the general ledger and offset 
the fair value re-measurement of the hedged item. The net differ-
ence in the interest rates coupons is recorded as a credit to inter-
est expense. The derivative swaps €270 million bearing interest at 
a fixed rate of 0.30% for $319.9 million plus fixed rate interest of 
1.115%. The interest coupons settle semi-annually. The principal 
will amortize each year on November 15, as follows: for years 
1 through 4, beginning November 15, 2021, €50 million versus 
$59.2 million, and a final settlement on November 15, 2025 of €70 
million versus $82.9 million. The carrying value of the derivative 
at December 31, 2021 is a current asset of $4.0 million and a 
long-term asset of $3.4 million.

Foreign Currency Forward Exchange Contracts 
A number of our European subsidiaries are exposed to the 

impact of exchange rate volatility between the U.S. dollar and the 
subsidiaries’ functional currencies, being either the Euro or the 
British pound sterling. We entered into contracts to exchange U.S. 
dollars for Euros and British pound sterling through June 2023. 
The aggregate notional amount of these contracts was $316.4 
million at December 31, 2021 and $250.3 million at December 
31, 2020. The purpose of these contracts is to hedge a portion of 
the forecasted transactions of European subsidiaries under long-
term sales contracts with certain customers. These contracts are 
expected to provide us with a more balanced matching of future 
cash receipts and expenditures by currency, thereby reducing our 
exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. The effective 
portion of the hedges was losses of $13.3 million, gains of $10.9 
million and losses of $11.1 million, for the years ended December 
31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and are recorded in other 
comprehensive (loss) income. At December 31, 2021, $1.9 mil-
lion of the carrying amount of these contracts was classified in 
assets ($1.7 million of which was recorded in prepaid expenses 
and other current assets) and $6.8 million as liabilities ($3.9 million 
of which is in other non-current liabilities) on the Consolidated Bal-
ance Sheets and $16.0 million classified in assets $10.7 million of 
which was recorded in prepaid expenses and other current assets) 
and $2.5 million as liabilities (less than $0.1 million of which is in 
other non-current liabilities) at December 31, 2020. During the 
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 the net impact for the 
hedges recognized in sales was a gain of $5.2 million and a loss 
of $14.5 million, respectively. For the three years ended December 
31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, hedge ineffectiveness was immaterial. 

In addition, we enter into foreign exchange forward contracts 
which are not designated as hedges. These are used to provide 
an offset to transactional gains or losses arising from the remea-
surement of non-functional monetary assets and liabilities such as 
accounts receivable. The change in the fair value of the derivatives 
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is recorded in the statement of operations. There are no credit 
contingency features in these derivatives. During the years ended 
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we recognized net foreign 
exchange losses of $1.3 million and $2.4 million, and gains of $0.4 
million, respectively, in the Consolidated Statements of Opera-
tions. The carrying amount of the contracts for asset and liability 
derivatives not designated as hedging instruments was $0.2 mil-
lion of current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at 
December 31, 2021.

The activity, net of tax, in accumulated other comprehensive 
loss related to foreign currency forward exchange contracts for the 
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was as follows: 

(In millions) 2021 2020 2019

Unrealized (loss) gain at beginning 
of period, net of tax 	 $ 10.6 	 $ (8.4) 	$(10.6)

Loss reclassified to net sales (4.0) 10.9 10.1
Increase (decrease) in fair value (10.1) 8.1 (7.9)
Unrealized gain (loss) at end of 

period, net of taxes 	 $ (3.5) 	$ 10.6 	$ (8.4)

Unrealized losses of $2.2 million recorded in accumulated other 
comprehensive loss, net of tax of $0.7 million, as of December 31, 
2021 are expected to be reclassified into earnings over the next 
twelve months as the hedged sales are recorded. The impact of 
credit risk adjustments was immaterial for the three years.

Commodity Swap Agreements
On occasion we enter into commodity swap agreements to 

hedge against price fluctuations of raw materials, including pro-
pylene (the principal component of acrylonitrile). As of December 
31, 2021, the Company had commodity swap agreements with 
a notional value of $18.9 million. The swaps mature monthly from 
January 2022 through September 2023. The swaps are accounted 
for as a cash flow hedge of our forward raw material purchases. 
To ensure the swaps are highly effective, all of the critical terms of 
the swap matched the terms of the hedged items. The fair value 
of the commodity swap agreements was an asset of $0.9 million 
($0.9 million of which was recorded in prepaid expenses and other 
current assets) and a liability of $2.3 million at December 31, 2021 
and an asset of $2.2 million ($1.5 million of which was recorded in 
prepaid expenses and other current assets) and a liability of $1.1 
million at December 31, 2020. 

NOTE 16 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

We are involved in litigation, investigations and claims arising 
out of the normal conduct of our business, including those relat-
ing to commercial transactions, environmental, employment and 
health and safety matters. While it is impossible to predict the 
ultimate resolution of litigation, investigations and claims asserted 
against us, we believe, based upon our examination of currently 
available information, our experience to date, and advice from 
legal counsel, that, after taking into account our existing insurance 
coverage and amounts already provided for, the currently pend-
ing legal proceedings against us will not have a material adverse 
impact on our consolidated results of operations, financial position 
or cash flows.

Environmental Matters
We have been named as a potentially responsible party (“PRP”) 

with respect to the certain hazardous waste disposal sites that 
we do not own or possess, which are included on, or proposed 

to be included on, the Superfund National Priority List of the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) or on equivalent lists of 
various state governments. Because the Federal Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CER-
CLA” or “Superfund”) allows for joint and several liability in certain 
circumstances, we could be responsible for all remediation costs 
at such sites, even if we are one of many PRPs. We believe, based 
on the amount and nature of the hazardous waste at issue, and 
the number of other financially viable PRPs at each site, that our 
liability in connection with such environmental matters will not be 
material. 

Lower Passaic River Study Area 
Hexcel together with approximately 48 other PRPs that com-

prise the Lower Passaic Cooperating Parties Group (the “CPG”) 
are subject to a May 2007 Administrative Order on Consent 
(“AOC”) with the EPA requiring the CPG to perform a Remedial 
Investigation/Feasibility Study of environmental conditions of a 
17-mile stretch of the Passaic River in New Jersey (the “Lower 
Passaic River”). We were included in the CPG based on our 
operations at our former manufacturing site in Lodi, New Jersey. 

In March 2016, the EPA issued a Record of Decision (“ROD”) 
setting forth the EPA’s selected remedy for the lower eight miles of 
the Lower Passaic River at an expected cost ranging from $0.97 
billion to $2.07 billion. This estimate did not include any costs 
related to a future remedy for the upper nine miles of the Lower 
Passaic River. In August 2017, the EPA appointed an independent 
third-party allocation expert to make recommendations on the 
relative liability of approximately 120 identified non-government 
PRP’s for the lower eight miles of the Lower Passaic River. In 
December 2020, the allocator issued its non-binding report on 
PRP liability (including Hexcel’s) to the EPA, which did not result in 
any change to Hexcel’s accrual for the Passaic matter. We do not 
know to what extent, if at all, this non-binding report will impact the 
ultimate outcome of the matter. In October 2021, the EPA released 
a ROD selecting an interim remedy for the upper nine miles of the 
Lower Passaic River at an expected additional cost ranging from 
$308.7 million to $661.5 million. 

In October 2016, pursuant to a settlement agreement with the 
EPA, Occidental Chemical Corporation (“OCC”), one of the PRPs, 
commenced performance of the remedial design required by the 
ROD for the lower eight miles of the Lower Passaic River, reserving 
its right of cost contribution from all other PRPs. In June 2018, 
OCC filed suit against approximately 120 parties, including Hex-
cel, in the U.S. District Court of the District of New Jersey seeking 
cost recovery and contribution under CERCLA related to the 
Lower Passaic River. In July 2019, the court granted in part and 
denied in part the defendants’ motion to dismiss. In August 2020, 
the court granted defendants’ motion for summary judgement for 
certain claims. Discovery for the remaining claims is ongoing. On 
February 24, 2021, Hexcel and certain other defendants filed a 
third-party complaint against the Passaic Valley Sewerage Com-
mission and certain New Jersey municipalities seeking recovery of 
Passaic-related cleanup costs incurred by defendants, as well as 
contribution for any cleanup costs incurred by OCC for which the 
court deems the defendants liable. 

The accrual balance related to the Lower Passaic River site was 
$2.1 million at December 31, 2021 and December 2020. Given 
the uncertainty associated with the many elements of the Super-
fund process for the Lower Passaic River, the amounts accrued 
may not be indicative of the amounts for which we will ultimately 
be responsible.
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Environmental remediation reserve activity for the three years 
ended December 31, was as follows: 

(In millions) 2021 2020 2019

Beginning remediation accrual 
balance 	 $	 2.4 	 $	 2.5 	 $	 2.7

Current period expenses — — —
Cash expenditures (0.3) (0.1) (0.2)
Ending remediation accrual 

balance 	 $	 2.1 	 $	 2.4 	 $	 2.5

Summary of Environmental Reserves 
Our estimate of liability as a PRP and our remaining costs 

associated with our responsibility to remediate the Lower Passaic 
River and other sites are accrued in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, our 
aggregate environmental related accruals were $2.1 million and 
$2.4 million, respectively, of which less than $0.1 million and $0.3 
million, for the aforementioned years, respectively, were included 
in current other accrued liabilities with the remainder included in 
other non-current liabilities. As related to certain environmental 
matters the accrual was estimated at the low end of a range of 
possible outcomes since no amount within the range is a better 
estimate than any other amount. If we had accrued, for those sites 
where we are able to estimate our liability, at the high end of the 
range of possible outcomes, our accrual would have been $16 
million higher at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.  

These accruals can change significantly from period to period 
due to such factors as additional information on the nature or 
extent of contamination, the methods of remediation required, 
changes in the apportionment of costs among responsible parties 
and other actions by governmental agencies or private parties, or 
the impact, if any, of being named in a new matter. 

Product Warranty
Warranty expense for the years ended December 31, 2021, 

2020 and 2019 and accrued warranty cost, included in “other 
accrued liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were as 
follows: 

(In millions)
Product

Warranties

Balance as of December 31, 2018 	 $	 4.8
Warranty expense 2.9
Deductions and other (2.2)
Balance as of December 31, 2019 	 $	 5.5
Warranty expense 1.7
Deductions and other (4.6)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 	 $	 2.6
Warranty expense 2.0
Deductions and other (2.1)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 	 $	 2.5

Purchase Obligations
At December 31, 2021, purchase commitments were $14.9 

million for 2022, $8.1 million for 2023, $8.7 million for 2024, $3.0 
million for 2025, $2.9 million for 2026, and $16.8 million thereafter.
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NOTE 17 — ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

Comprehensive income represents net income and other gains and losses affecting stockholders’ equity that are not reflected in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 
were as follows: 

Unrecognized Net 
Defined Benefit

Plan Costs 

Change in Fair Value of 
Derivatives

Products

Foreign
Currency

Translation Total(In millions)

Balance at December 31, 2019 	 $	 (22.4) 	 $	 (6.9) 	 $	 (89.4) 	 $	 (118.7)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (16.6) 0.3 54.6 38.3
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive  
 loss (1.4) 22.2 — 20.8
Other comprehensive (loss) income (18.0) 22.5 54.6 59.1

Balance at December 31, 2020 	 $	 (40.4) 	 $	 15.6 	 $	 (34.8) 	 $	 (59.6)

Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (22.0) 7.7 (26.9) (41.2)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive  
 loss 0.7 (26.4) — (25.7)

Other comprehensive loss (21.3) (18.7) (26.9) (66.9)
Balance at December 31, 2021 	 $	 (61.7) 	 $	 (3.1) 	 $	 (61.7) 	 $	 (126.5)

The amounts reclassified to earnings from the unrecognized 
net defined benefit plan costs component of accumulated other 
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2021 were 
net losses of $0.8 million less taxes of less than $0.1 million. The 
amounts reclassified to earnings from the change in fair value of 
the derivatives component of accumulated other comprehensive 
loss for the year ended December 31, 2021 were net gains of $5.2 
million less taxes of $1.2 million related to foreign currency forward 
exchange contracts, net gains of $25.6 million less taxes of $6.0 
million related to interest swaps and net gains of $3.6 million less 
taxes of $0.8 million related to commodity swaps.

The amounts reclassified to earnings from the unrecognized 
net defined benefit plan costs component of accumulated other 
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 were 
net gains of $1.0 million less taxes of $0.2 million. The amounts 
reclassified to earnings from the change in fair value of the deriva-
tives component of accumulated other comprehensive loss for the 

year ended December 31, 2020 were net losses of $14.5 mil-
lion less taxes of $3.5 million related to foreign currency forward 
exchange contracts, net losses of $9.3 million less taxes of $2.2 
million related to interest swaps and net losses of $5.5 million less 
taxes of $1.3 million related to commodity swaps.

The amounts reclassified to earnings from the unrecognized net 
defined benefit plan costs component of accumulated other com-
prehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $1.0 
million less taxes of $0.2 million. Amounts reclassified to earnings 
from the change in fair value of the derivatives component of accu-
mulated other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 
31, 2019 were net losses of $13.1 million less taxes of $3.0 million 
related to foreign currency forward exchange contracts, net gains 
of $1.3 million less taxes of $0.2 million related to interest swaps 
and net losses of $3.5 million less taxes of $0.8 million related to 
commodity swaps.
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(In millions)
Composite

Materials
Engineered

Products
Corporate &

Other Total

Third-party sales
2021 	 $	1,019.4 	 $	305.3 	 $	 — 	 $	1,324.7
2020 1,185.9 316.5 — 1,502.4
2019 1,863.1 492.6 — 2,355.7

Intersegment sales
2021 	 $	 56.7 	 $	 2.4 	 $	 (59.1) 	 $	 —
2020 53.9 2.5 (56.4) —
2019 83.4 0.8 (84.2) —

Operating income (loss)
2021 	 $	 88.1 	 $	 20.2 	 $	 (56.5) 	 $	 51.8
2020 60.7 9.4 (56.0) 14.1
2019 411.3 72.0 (58.1) 425.2

Depreciation and amortization
2021 	 $	 123.4 	 $	 14.5 	 $	 0.1 	 $	 138.0
2020 125.5 15.3 0.1 140.9
2019 126.5 15.1 0.1 141.7

Equity in earnings (losses) from affiliated companies
2021 	 $	 (0.1) 	 $	 0.2 	 $	 (0.1) 	 $	 —
2020 (0.3) (1.1) (0.2) (1.6)
2019 (0.3) 4.3 (0.3) 3.7

Other operating expense
2021 	 $	 17.8 	 $	 0.1 	 $	 0.3 	 $	 18.2
2020 32.1 9.8 16.0 57.9
2019 - - - -

Segment assets
2021 	 $	2,258.2 	 $	475.6 	 $	 85.6 	 $	2,819.4
2020 2,382.3 473.8 61.7 2,917.8
2019 2,669.6 465.2 (6.2) 3,128.6

Investments in affiliated companies
2021 	 $	 1.7 	 $	 35.3 	 $	 7.6 	 $	 44.6
2020 2.0 35.0 7.7 44.7
2019 2.2 36.1 8.2 46.5

Accrual basis additions to property, plant and equipment
2021 	 $	 35.7 	 $	 5.7 	 $	 — 	 $	 41.4
2020 38.6 3.9 — 42.5
2019 185.8 5.2 — 191.0

NOTE 18 — SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The financial results for our segments are prepared using a 
management approach, which is consistent with the basis and 
manner in which we internally segregate financial information for 
the purpose of assisting in making internal operating decisions. 
We evaluate the performance of our segments based on operating 
income, and generally account for intersegment sales based on 
arm’s length prices. We report two segments, Composite Materials 
and Engineered Products. Corporate and certain other expenses 

are not allocated to the segments, except to the extent that the 
expense can be directly attributable to the segment. Corporate & 
Other is shown to reconcile to Hexcel’s consolidated results. 

In addition to the product line-based segmentation of our busi-
ness, we also monitor sales into our principal end markets as a 
means to understanding demand for our products. 

The following table presents financial information on our seg-
ments as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 and for the years 
then ended. 



56   

Geographic Data 
Net sales and long-lived assets, by geographic area, consisted of the following for the three years ended December 31, 2021, 

2020 and 2019: 

(In millions) 2021 2020 2019

Net Sales by Geography (a):
United States 	 $	 685.0 	 $	 792.6 	 $	1,246.9
International

France 205.0 226.1 364.3
Spain 115.8 101.5 166.6
Germany 96.9 127.1 221.3
United Kingdom 91.3 104.8 168.9
Austria 72.9 83.6 110.1
Other 57.8 66.7 77.6

Total international 639.7 709.8 1,108.8
Total consolidated net sales 	 $	1,324.7 	 $	1,502.4 	 $	2,355.7

Net Sales to External Customers (b):
United States 	 $	 546.1 	 $	 703.5 	 $	1,083.3
International

Germany 107.3 124.6 212.8
France 113.1 106.7 191.9
Spain 91.4 107.4 188
United Kingdom 43.4 37.7 77.4
Other 423.4 422.5 602.3

Total international 778.6 798.9 1,272.4
Total consolidated net sales 	 $	1,324.7 	 $	1,502.4 	 $	2,355.7

Long-lived Assets (c):
United States 	 $	1,456.5 	 $	1,523.3 	 $	1,609.2
International

France 349.6 398.5 387.1
United Kingdom 130.9 144.4 151.9
Spain 51.5 57.7 57.2
Other 75.8 86.6 84.3

Total international 607.8 687.2 680.5
Total consolidated long-lived assets 	 $	2,064.3 	 $	2,210.5 	 $	2,289.7
(a)	 Net sales by geography based on the location in which the product sold was manufactured. 
(b)	 Net sales to external customers based on the location to which the product sold was delivered. 
(c)	� Long-lived assets primarily consist of property, plant and equipment, net and goodwill at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. Also included are right of use assets related 

to operating leases.
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Significant Customers and Suppliers 
Approximately 33%, 33% and 39% of our 2021, 2020 and 2019 

net sales, respectively were to Airbus and its subcontractors and 
approximately 16%, 19% and 25% of our 2021, 2020 and 2019 
net sales, respectively were to Boeing and its subcontractors. 

NOTE 19 — FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

The fair values of our financial instruments are classified into one 
of the following categories: 
•	� Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are 

accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or 
liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to 
Level 1 inputs.

•	� Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active 
markets but corroborated by market data. 

•	� Level 3:Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market 
data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest prior-
ity to Level 3 inputs. 
In determining fair value, we utilize valuation techniques that 

maIn determining fair value, we utilize valuation techniques that 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs to the extent possible as well as consider 
our own and counterparty credit risk. At December 31, 2021 and 
2020, we had one liability which utilized Level 3 inputs. 

For derivative assets and liabilities that utilize Level 2 inputs, we 
prepare estimates of future cash flows of our derivatives, which 
are discounted to a net present value. The estimated cash flows 
and the discount factors used in the valuation model are based 
on observable inputs, and incorporate non-performance risk (the 
credit standing of the counterparty when the derivative is in a 
net asset position, and the credit standing of Hexcel when the 
derivative is in a net liability position). The fair value of these assets 
and liabilities was approximately $10.2 million and $9.3 million, 
and approximately $18.4 million and $14.8 million, respectively, 
at December 31, 2021 and 2020. In addition, the fair value of 
these derivative contracts, which are subject to a master netting 
arrangement under certain circumstances, is presented on a gross 
basis in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

Below is a summary of valuation techniques for all Level 2 
financial assets and liabilities: 

•	� Cross Currency and Interest Rate Swap Agreements — 
valued using the USD Secured Overnight Financing Rate 
(“SOFR”) curves and quoted forward foreign exchange prices 
at the reporting date. The fair value of the assets was $7.4 
million at December 31, 2021. The fair value of the assets and 
liabilities were $0.3 million and $11.1 million at December 31, 
2020, respectively. 

•	� Foreign exchange derivative assets and liabilities — valued 
using quoted forward foreign exchange prices at the report-
ing date. The fair value of assets and liabilities at December 
31, 2021 was $1.9 million and $7.0 million, respectively. The 
fair value of assets and liabilities at December 31, 2020 was 
$16.0 million and $2.6 million, respectively.

•	� Commodity swap agreements — valued using quoted for-
ward commodity prices at the reporting date. The fair value 
of the assets and liabilities at December 31, 2021 was $0.9 
million and $2.3 million, respectively. The fair value of the 
assets and liabilities at December 31, 2020 was $2.2 million 
and $1.1 million, respectively. 

Counterparties to the above contracts are highly rated financial 
institutions, none of which experienced any significant down-
grades in 2021 that would reduce the receivable amount owed, if 
any, to the Company.

Liabilities classified as Level 3; At December 31, 2021 we had 
a liability for $0.4 million, which represented contingent consid-
eration that was recognized in connection with our acquisition 
of certain assets of Oxford Performance Materials, Inc. in 2017. 
The balance was $3.3 million at December 31, 2020. Changes 
to the initial amount recorded relates to interest accretion and 
the reassessment of the contingent consideration during 2021 
which resulted in a benefit recorded in Other Operating Expense 
on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. This amount was 
estimated based on certain contractual stipulations which requires 
us to make payments to the seller in the future based upon the 
achievement of certain results. We used our current forecasted 
results of the acquired operations and discounted these future 
amounts using an internally derived discount rate. Future amounts 
payable may differ from this estimate by the difference between 
the actual and forecasted results. 
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Hexcel management has prepared and is responsible for the 
consolidated financial statements and the related financial data 
contained in this report. These financial statements, which include 
estimates, were prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. Management 
uses its best judgment to ensure that such statements reflect fairly 
the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash 
flows of the Company. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors reviews and 
monitors the consolidated financial statements and accounting 
policies of Hexcel. These financial statements and policies are 
reviewed regularly by management and such financial state-
ments are audited by our independent registered public account-
ing firm, Ernst & Young LLP. The Audit Committee, composed 
solely of outside directors, meets periodically, separately, and 
jointly, with management and the independent registered public 
accounting firm. 

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

Hexcel management is responsible for establishing and main-
taining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal 
control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as a process 
designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal 
executive and principal financial officers and effected by the com-
pany’s board of directors, management and other personnel to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples and includes those policies and procedures that: 

•	� pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions 
of the assets of the company;

•	� provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of management 
and directors of the company; and 

•	� provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of 
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements. 

Hexcel management has assessed the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. 
In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework 
(2013). Based on our assessment, management concluded 
that, as of December 31, 2021, our internal control over financial 
reporting was effective. 

The effectiveness of Hexcel’s internal control over financial 
reporting, as of December 31, 2021, has been audited by Ernst & 
Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as 
stated in its report that appears on page 59. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Hexcel Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hexcel Corporation and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of Decem-

ber 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, stockholders’ equity and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated 
financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated 
February 9, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error 
or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide 
a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was com-

municated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the 
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit 
matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating 
the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates.
		  Valuation of deferred tax assets
	

Description of the 	
Matter

	� At December 31, 2021, the Company had deferred tax assets related to deductible temporary differences and 
carryforwards of $164.4 million, which is net of a $7.6 million valuation allowance. As explained in Note 9 of the 
consolidated financial statements, the determination of the required valuation allowance and the amount, if any, 
of deferred tax assets to be recognized involves significant estimates regarding the timing and amount of rever-
sal of taxable temporary differences, future taxable income and the implementation of tax planning strategies.   
Management’s analysis of the realizability of its deferred tax assets was significant to our audit because the 
amounts and disclosures are material to the financial statements and involved subjective estimation and 
audit judgment. 

	
How We Addressed

 
	

the Matter in Our Audit
	� We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of 

controls that address the risks of material misstatement relating to the realizability of deferred tax as-
sets, including controls over management’s estimates of the timing and amount of reversal of tax-
able temporary differences, future taxable income and the implementation of tax planning strategies.  

Among other audit procedures performed, we evaluated the Company’s assessment of the realizability of deferred tax assets and the 
resultant valuation allowance including management’s estimates of future taxable income by jurisdiction. We compared management’s 
estimates of future taxable income with current industry and economic trends, the actual results of prior periods, and other forecasted 
financial information prepared by the Company. We involved our tax professionals to evaluate the application of tax law, including manage-
ment’s tax planning strategies, in the Company’s assessment and the resultant valuation allowance. We tested the Company’s scheduling 
of the timing and amount of reversal of taxable temporary differences. We have evaluated the Company’s income tax disclosures included 
in Note 9 related to the realizability of deferred tax assets and the resultant valuation allowance.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2016. 
Stamford, Connecticut
February 9, 2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Hexcel Corporation 

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
We have audited Hexcel Corporation and Subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 

2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control— Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the “COSO criteria”). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), 
the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, 
comprehensive (loss) income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, 
and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”) of the Company and our report dated February 9, 2022 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of 

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our 
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in 
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detec-
tion of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Stamford, Connecticut
February 9, 2022
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S&P Mid Cap 400

2021 Custom Peer Group

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Shareholder1 Return— 
December 2016 through December 2021

Hexcel Corporation, S&P Aerospace and Defense Select Index, S&P MidCap 400, and the 2021 Custom Peer Group
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Date Hexcel Corporation
S&P Aerospace & Defense 

Select Index S&P MidCap 400
2021 Custom 

Peer Group 

December 2016 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00 $100.00

December 2017 $121.29 $127.00 $116.24 $135.95 

December 2018 $113.41 $120.62 $103.36 $115.31

December 2019 $146.26 $167.11 $130.44 $158.27

December 2020 $96.96 $176.22 $148.26 $182.07 

December 2021 $103.58 $180.00 $184.97 $228.77 

(1) Total shareholder return assuming $100 invested on December 31, 2016 and reinvestment of dividends on daily basis.
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Low 	 $43.66	 $26.75	 $56.18
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